Analysis of the Gender Dimension in the Green Innovation and Entrepreneurship in Africa



Imprint

Published by:

Greenovations - Africa infoggreenovation-africa.org www.greenovation-africa.org

Place and date of publication

Bonn, September 2023

Editor: Dr. Erick Gankam Tambo

Authors

Mrs. Judith Hartl Kivuyo Mrs. Nambula Kachumi Mrs. Lelemba Phiri Mr. Rizwaan Khambata Dr. Erick Bankam Tambo Mr. Axel Nguedia Ms. Tarisai Kanvepi

Acknowledgments:

Mr. William Otieno The Africa Trust Group

Design & Layout:

Ms. Noor Hafiza Nor Azmi Mr. Axel Nguedia

Production

Printed on 100% recycled paper

This report has been financed by the International Development Research Centre of Canada (DRC) in the frame of the project "Greenovations-Mrico: Empowering African Youth and Women Green Innovators and Entrepreneurs".

Implementing partners:

- United Nations University Vice Rectorate in Europe
- UNFCCC Regional Collaboration Centre for East and Southern Africa
 Mrii chs
- AmLobs
- Pan African University Institute for Water and Energy Sciences (Incl. Climate Change - PAUWES)
 VCAA



Table of contents

1. Executive summary 3		
2. Introduction 5		
2.1 Purpose of the report	6	
2.2 Problem statement and specific objectives	6	
2.3 Methodology	7	
2.4 Definition of working concepts	11	
2.5 Report structure and chapter overview	13	
3. Role and significance of women		
entrepreneurs in the green sectors in Africa	14	
3.1 Overview of the current entrepreneurship landscape across the African green sectors, and the role and engagement of women within them	15	
3.2 Understanding female entrepreneurship in the green sectors	21	
3.3 Importance and potential impact of women in green sectors across Africa	25	
3.4 Key Insights	29	
4. Challenges of women entrepreneurs in the green	30	
sectors in Africa		
4.1 Overview on barriers faced by women entrepreneurs in the Green Innovation sector in Africa	32	
4.2 Barriers across business stages	32	
4.3 Thematic barriers	34	
4.4 Key insights	45	





5.	Existing mechanisms and practices to support	
women entrepreneurs in the green sectors in Africa 4		
	5.1 Mechanisms and Practices to Support Women Entrepreneurs in the Business Formation Stage	49
	5.2 Mechanisms and Practices to Support Women Entrepreneurs in the Business Validation Stage	51
	5.3 Mechanisms and Practices to Support Women Entrepreneurs in the Business Growth Stage	54
	5.4 Key Insights	56
6. Opportunities and Synergies		57
	6.1 Funding	58
	6.2 Capacity development	59
	6.3 Role modeling to stimulate culture shifts	60
	6.4 Key Insights	61
7. Conclusion and Recommendations		62
	7.1 Conclusion	63
	7.2 Recommendations	64
Re	References	

Executive Summary

Afficion women entropeneurs constitute BBI of the continent's self-employed population, yet hey continue loss moles profits than runne (34% liss on overga). Within the gene sector, a critical sector for sustainable development, women play various lay roles across the green consistent buyon that of an entropeneur. Withis they are important community maters and customers, just they remain, uppeneighter buyons and an entropeneurs across the many highly management, blues across and an across the many langement, water management, blues across the many langement, water and accounts of a control across and across the many langement, water and accounts of a control across and across the many langement, water and accounts of a control across and across the many langement, water and accounts of a control across and across the many langement, water and accounts of a control across across the many langement, water and accounts of a control across across the many langement, water accounts across the second across and a control across the many langement.

Furthermore, despite foundational ambatties in the business journey of emperaneurs in the general action and in the oxeroll employmental journey, the general methysiencularity journey and the second seco

Women entrepreneurs in the green innovations sector face numerous challenges including:

- Access to the market is often driven by gender blases and stereotypes, difficulty in achieving product-market fit, limited market information, and discrimination in supply chains and procurement processes.
- Access to finance with challenges in securing adequate funding for their ventures, limited access to capital across the various stages of venture development, discriminatory lending practices and higher preception of risk by investors.
- Accessing supportive networks with limited opportunities for business networking and mentarship.
- Cultural norms and societal expectations hinder their decision-making authority and affect their credibility in a male-dominated sector, often resulting in a significant negative impact on their mindset and confidence.
- Policy and regulatory challenges with the absence of gender-responsive policies and regulations; and **limited access to quality education and skills** that constrain the ability to participate in let alone innovate and adapt to market demands.

The existing support mechanisms promoting and nurturing women's green innovation and entrepreneurship activities in Africa are principally in six key areas:

- Capacity building and training: designed for women entrepreneurs to successfully navigate their journey in the green sectors;
- Networking and collaboration: whilst not gender-specific, provide opportunities to facilitate knowledge exchange and meet key players in the ecosystem such as investors:
- · Access to finance: to start and scale women's green businesses;

- Access to market: including opportunities for network expansion, market linkages and potential market exploration;
- Policy support with an increase in governments and international organizations acknowledgement of the importance of women's involvement in the arean economy.
- Research and development: with growing evidence that promoting women's participation in
 research and development can improve the outcomes for women in the sector.

Addressing these challenges requires firstly adopting a comprehensive outlook based on the monotor and significance of women access the genera social nor on as entreprenents but also as accessed and access and accessed approach involves many access stategely over the omining years. Sacondy, an antifaccess departool involves granus statelendons, including accessed and accessed and an advected approach involves granus statelendones, including accessed and accessed and an advected approach involves and accessed and accessed and accessed and accessed approach involves and accessed by building and intering, naterioreng and adobtocrating accesses to france, screess to accesses the advected accesses and accesses and accesses and accesses to access and accesses and accesses and accesses and accesses the advected accesses and accesses and accesses to access accesses and accesses and accesses and accesses and accesses and accesses accesses and accesses and accesses accesses accesses accesses accesses accesses and accesses acce

Business formation: increased pre-seed financing to support the formation and validation stages of women-led startups; and establishing mentorship and networking programs that connect experienced women entrepreneurs with inspiring ones to provide guidance, support, and networking opportunities;

Business validation: increased funding for the business validation stage through innovative financing mechanisms better suited to the context and cutures of women in the sector. Efforts should be made to disseminate information on green innovations, funding opportunities, and training programs through diverse channels including government, ESDs and private entities;

Business Growth: the creation of sector and women-specific funding for the business growth stages, providing specialized training in key business areas such as digital marketing and sales that target women entrepreneurs in the sector; and creating gender-inclusive market access programs including opportunities for incentived public and private partnerships.



Introduction

As African nations navigate environmental changes and challenges, there is a growing need for more innovation and visionary leaders to address the increasingly critical situation. However, the innovation and entropreneurship space across the continent is restrictive, especially for woman. This report explores how we might empower and include more women in green innovation sactors to create a sustainable impact on multiple frants.

2.1 Purpose of the report

This legand raims to inform doout the status and challenges of warms's inclusion in the genes minoradion ecologication of a sepice geographicities and second-modulation of the ware might include the second through this, we toget to contribute to the inclusion of warms in the green innoradine and important second second second second second second second second second innorading econgraphic second second second second second second innorading econgraphic second second second second second second sections of the second second second second second second second sections of the second second second second second second second sections of the second second second second second second second sections of the second secon

The report tangets key stakeholders in the Quintuple Helik Framework (see framework introduction below) as readers and implementers - normal with policymaters, technology hust, development and education partners. The report will furthermore inform our own program design within the rearrowitance project, and the design of other, winter programs carces the continent, leading to greater opportunities and support for women entrepreneurs in the green sector.

2.2 Problem Statement and Specific Objectives

Problem Statement:

Despite the increasing emphasis on sustainability and green increasine, where integrates may be a submitted of the present increasing and the submitted by the

Objectives:

In an effort to investigate the gender dimension in green innovation and entrepreneurship on the African continent, and to make recommendations for an increasing and effective promotion of aender roles within the ecosystem, we have set the following specific objectives for the report.

- · Analyse women-led businesses and their current situation
- · Identify existing challenges and understand their capacity building needs
- · Collect existing support and incubation practices from business ideation to maturity
- Develop integrated strategies to support women-led businesses to start and grow, and explore collaboration opportunities for and with them
- Recommend ways to strengthen female entrepreneurship and innovation across the green ecosystem.

2.3 Methodology

This report is co-meted by a term of gende and green sector specialist. It is shoped by proteitaner insights gained through setternive work and research experience in the African green ecosystem; as well as up-to-date data on the green sectors and women's inclusion. Within the co-research indication dragets ware detailed by teams of specialist, and consecutively stored internally and astematy for validation and input, an teacher expectance report considering values performed as experience and segues throwledge each consecutively asterial performance performance and experience and segue throwledge each consecutively asterial performance and the seguence of the seguence of the seguence of the seguence throwledge each of the seguence of the seguence of the seguence and seguence and seguence throwledge each of the seguence of

To conduct a competensive analysis of the barriers faced by women entrepreneurs in Artician in the green involvation sector, a mixed-methods approach was employed. Bich quantitative and qualitative research methods were used to gather relevant data and insights. The ilterature involves included a thorough consideration of success such as cacademic journals, research horoware included a thorough consideration of success such as cacademic journals, research content, statistical information, and transis telated to the rate of women entrepreneurs in the green involvation sector.

For some chapters, insights from the literature review informed additional data collection methods, which historical surveys traging women entrepresents in the green innovation can be added and the second strategies and the second strategies and the second strategies and inclusion strategies and interviews provided qualitative insights into the positibaners and characteristic qualitative and qualitative insights in the target were endpaid using appropriate qualitative and qualitative insights in the target and the second strategies in the second strategies and the second strategies and the second strategies to the strategies and the second strategies and the second strategies and the second strategies to the strategies and the second strategies and the second strategies and the second strategies and the strategies and the second strategies and the second strategies and the second strategies and the strategies and the second strategies and t

Based on the data from literature research, surveys and interviews, we identified key insights and patterns, opportunities, and actionable recommendations for a variety of ecosystem actors.

Within the report, we considered the following conceptual frameworks for argumentation and overall structure:

The Green Inclusive Innovation and Entrepreneurship Framework for Africa;

The Green Inclusive Innovation and Entrepreneurship Framework for Africa (GIEFA) consists of incremental components or steps for the setup of the ecosystem to support youth and women as green entrepreneurs in Africa.

The framework was developed by the Greenovations project team and builds on the result of the analysis, assessment and classification of green African start-ups, innovations and promising market segments, which resulted in the green sectors we are looking at throughout the Greenovation project and this report. These sectors are rerevable energy, water monogenent, strant adjustiture, climate actions and water management.



Proposed Green Inclusive Innovation and Entrepreneurable Framework for Africa (GAETA)

The Quintuple helix Framework

The innovation helix framework generally describes interactions between stakeholder arouns within a knowledge economy. Each sector is represented by a circle (helix), with overlapping showing interactions between sectors. Building on previous versions of the innovation helx framework, the Greenovations project and this report apply a Quintuple Helix Perspective. We will continuously analyse the impact and role of all Quintuple Helix actors on women entrepreneurs and innovators who are placed at the very centre of the model. As such, the model helps us to include, next to the perspective of the women entrepreneurs themselves, the perspective of various important ecosystem actors, and the complex interactions between them.

The Quintuple Helix model includes the following ecosystem actors:

- Technology and Innovation Hubs
- Funding Actors and Institutions
- Academia and Universities
- Policy Institutions, Development and Cooperation actors
- Civil society and the general public.

Currently in discussion is the addition of a tith dimension of the helic Chil society actors, including media, NGOs, community groups and sector/buildnesses associations, as well as the general public, including women and youth. These actors ploy a major role in female entrepreneuming as customers, out of the state of the state of the entrepreneuming and the state of the consider the role and impact of this lith exposition actor this lith lith



Gaintuple helix of innovation and entrepreneurship

In each chapter, we will look at the respective relevant actors (public and private) involved, the resources combined, and the activities performed, as well as the outcome of the processes, the perceived value those actors contribute to the support and growth of female-led businesses in the green sectors.

The startup development process

The Startup Development Phases are a standard, open-source framework created by <u>Startup</u> <u>Commons</u>. The framework describes the journey of Innovative enterpreneurs from idea to product, to growth. While the framework is not specifically designed for the green sectors, or for the context of African female enterpreneurs, its principles and general structure apply.

In this report, we one building on the formwork in our chapter structure. We understoot the purport of our all approximations of the structure of the structure term of the structure purport of the structure of



Start-up Development Phases by startupcommons.org

2.4 Definition of working concepts

Green sectors:

When referring to the 'green sectors' within the Greenvalions project and throughout this report, we make the five sectors of renevable energy, water management, simat agriculture, waste management, alimate action and blue tech/economy. Each of these sectors can be subdivided into a number of market seaments, specified in **Choter 31**.

Green entrepreneurship:

Schumpeter et d. (Schumpeter, 1934) define an entrepreneur as a change open. We understand green entrepreneurs as individuals who create a business venture to antrepreneurs produce environmentally generating an intervent for ther businesses. In this report, we will focus on green this report, we will focus denigeneous down.

Green Innovation Ecosystems:

Green innovation ecosystems refer to interconnected networks of organisations. institutions, and individuals that collaborate and work together to drive and support the development and adoption of environmentally sustainable technologies, practices, and solutions. These ecosystems bring together stakeholders from various sectors, including businesses, research institutions, government agencies, non-profit organisations, and investors, to foster innovation and address environmental challenges. See also Green Innovation Ecosystems: An Exploratory Study of the Involved Actors | SpringerLink.

Gender inclusion:

Gender Inclusion commonly refers to a fair representation of men and women, and that both are equally encouraged to participate (<u>Worldbank</u>: 2021). In this report, we refer to gender inclusion to mean particularly the inclusion of women in having equal rights and access to resources, opportunities, and support.

Entrepreneur and Startup:

An entrepreneur, generally specking, is an individual who creates a new business (alone or together with other co-founders), bearing most of the risk and enjoying most of the rewards (<u>truestopedia</u> 2022). In Chapter 32, we will explain the difference between necessity and opportunity entrepreneurs in the Aricon context, Startup (co-)founders fail into the category of opportunity

Startups are young companies founded to develop a unique product or service and bring it to market and scale. Start-ups are roaded in innovation and often aim to create high-tech, disruptive new services or products. What differentiates startups from orbits problem companies is the focus on a scalar problem doiling to change and the ambiliato to scale a product, service, and a whole business, mostively (focus, 2023).

Incubation and Acceleration:

An includer and an accelerator are both programs designed to support and nurture startups at their early stages. Whils the terms "includerd" and "accelerator" are often used interchangeably, the specific offerings of programs can vary widely. The key distinction lies in the stage of startups they target, the duration and structure of the programs and the objectives they aim to achieve including funding.

Stage and Focus:

Incluitor: An incluitor typically focuses on the formation phase when the startups are identify, concepting and committing. Their aim is to provide a supportive environment for the startups' development through these circlical phases and help startups refine their business model, develop prototypes, and conduct marker research, incluitors thus offer a range of resources, such as offers and samelines, access to hunding. The primary goal of an incluator is to help primary goal of an incluator is to help startups act to ohose where the vormmit to their ideas with some early validation, have a minimal viable product or service, and establish a solid foundation.

Accelerators, Accelerators, on the other hand, are genard burneds startups that have already developed a product or service, have validated it and geined some tracton, and are ready to scale. They therefore focus on the validation through to the scaling phases. Startups in accelerator programs often receive assistance in areas such as market expansion, customer acquisition, product referement, and thundraising.

They provide access to mentorship, expertise, industry connections and investors and sometimes offer funding themselves to help startups rapidly expand their operations and reach.

Structure and duration:

<u>incubators</u> incubators usually provide a longer-term support system for startups. They may have a fieldble timeline and can accommodate startups for several months or even years. The duration can vary based on the needs of the startup and the terms of the incubator program.

<u>Accelerator</u>: Accelerator programs are hypotolymore interes and time-initide than incubators, aiming to accelerate the growth and success of stortps within a defined period. They thus follow of fixed-term model, often running for a few months, typicably from three to six months. During this time, stortups og through an infensive program that includes mentarship, workshops, pitch includes mentarship, workshops, pitch day. The focus is on accelerating the growth and achieving significant milestones within the defined time forme.

Funding:

Incubator, incubators may provide startups with access to funding sources, but they typically focus more on creating an environment conducive to startup growth rather than directly investing in the companies. Startups in an incubator often have to secure their own funding through other means, such as grants, angel investors, or venture capital.

<u>Accelerators</u>: Accelerators may offer startups some funding in exchange for equity, although the amount and terms can vary. The focus of an accelerator is to help startups rapidly scale, and the funding provided can be used to fuel that growth. Additionally, accelerators aften provide apportunities for startups to pitch to investors and make valuable connections in the investment community.

Entrepreneurial curriculum:

An entrepreneurial curriculum refers to a set of courses, programs and activities designed to foster and develop entrepreneurial skills, mindsets, and knowledge among individuals. It can be in both academic and industry contexts, each with its own specific focus and objectives.

Both ocademic and industry-related entrepreneurial curricul pays important roles in promoting entrepreneurship and innovation. They provide individuals with tools, knowledge and support to navigate the challenges and run a business successfully whether in the ocademic or real world. See iso <u>Academic</u> <u>Entrepreneur</u> <u>Academic</u> <u>Entrepreneurship</u> |

2.5 Report structure and chapters' overview

in line with the purpose and objectives listed above, this report consists of two introductory and five main content chapters:

Chapter 1: Executive Summary provides an overview of the report, its context and key insights.

Chapter 2: Introduction presents the report's purpose and objectives, as well as the methodology used and key concepts defined.

Chapter 3: Role and Significance of women entrepreneurs in the green sectors in Africa describes the current entrepreneurship landscape across the green sectors and their market segments, with specific reference to the role of women within. The chapter then continues to describe female entrepreneurship in Africa along the startup development phases and outlines the particular conditions women entrepreneurs might face in the green sectors. Finally, the chapter looks at the future importance and notential impact of women on the areen sectors - as entrepreneurs, ecosystem actors, and community members.

Chapter 4: Challenges and support needs of women entreprensus in the green sectors in Africe highlight the barriers and obstacles that hinds the progress and success of women entreprensus; in the realm of greene minorations in Africa. It details the reasons and specifics behind each barrier and lists recommendations to help women entreprensus; overcome them, deriving specific support needs related to each barrier.

Chapter 5: Edisting Mechanisms and Practices to support women entreprensurs in the green sectors in Africa explains what is currently being dane, and what has been tried in the past in order to support women entrepreneurs in the green sectors. The chapter outlines different types of mechanisms and practices by the ecosystem actors in the Quintuple Hells, and lists examples of existing Initiatives and practices by Chapter 6: Opportunities and Synergies look at the challenges and support needs identified in Chapter 4, as well as the existing mechanisms listed in Chapter 5, and derives opportunities and synergies within the ecosystem.

Chapter 7: Conclusion and

Recommendations summarises the key findings and insights gathered throughout the report. The chapter furthermore provides recommendations for a variety of ecosystem actors on how to improve the inclusion and support of women entrepreneurs in the green sectors. and on secolic actions to be taken.

Role and significance of women entrepreneurs in the green sectors in Africa This dropper arms to provide an overview of ternite emperencuisity in the green actions could be a set of the entropy of the set of the entropy of the set of the entropy of the set of the entropy of the set of

3.1 Overview of the current entrepreneurship landscape across the African Green Sectors, and the role and engagement of women within them

We will first provide an overview of the selected green sub-sectors in Africa, including general information on site, treat and emerging market segments. Drace a contextual understanding has been extabilished, we will then explore the current role and engagement of women in these sub-sectors. We will also provide a few examples of women entrepreneurs to highlight their contributions and what fight on female entrepreneurship in the space.

Renewable Energy

The renewable energy sector in Africa is a rapidly growing one, with notable increases in private sector initiatives, targeted investment, media attention and government prioritisation over the past years. With the average electrification rate across Africa at 55.94% (2020, World Bank), 600 million people lack access to electricity (IEA's Africa Energy Outlook). With only 9% of all energy generated in Africa in 2020 coming from renewable sources (Statista), the renewable energy sector has a unique opportunity for growth. In parallel, many African governments struggle to deliver on their promises to connect all (or a major part) of their population to the national grid. innovative, smaller-scale technology such as mini-arids.

home solutions and community-based systems often run privately or in public-private partnerships, and refying on locally available renewable resources (mainly sciar energy) are coming into focus as an important piece of the electrification puzzle. Examples for highgrowth companies that offer these technologies are <u>Zola Electric</u>, <u>Bibox</u> and <u>Engle</u> Energy Access

The overage annual investments in nerwable energy grew (from less than USD 0.5 billion between 2000 and 2009 to USD 5 billion between 2010 and 2009 (<u>ISR/M-3 Benewable</u> Intergy Market Analysis: Alfrica and Its Regiona). The Alfrican renewable energy market is expected to grew by more than 6% between 2022 to 2027 (<u>Morder intelligence, Alfrica</u> Benewable Intergy Market Size).

0

Noteworthy market segments within this sector include (GET.invest's Renewable Energy Market Segments in Sub-Saharan Africa: Outlook & Challenges)

- Independent Power Producers
- Mini-grids
- Commercial and Industrial
- Solar Home Systems (SHS)/Off-Grid Solar
- Clean Cooking

Gender inclusion continues to be the focus of a number of development efforts within the sector. There is a persistent gender gop in employment within the sector driven by unequal access to education and technical skills training, fewer job promotion opportunilles, unequal pay and other indequate and unfair company policies (IEA Africa Entero Vation 2017)

When considering senior management, there is also a gender ago. In sub-Schartman Mitca, women make up 27% of board members and Also and a senior demonstration improvementation of the demonstration of the senior senior senior senior provement sequelties in Africa Anterior set of the senior senior senior set of the senior senior senior senior senior senior senior set of the senior senior senior senior senior senior senior senior set of the senior s

Water Management

The African water management sector is vastly diverse, ranging from small-scale water purification and pumping businesses to large multinational companies and governments implementing water infrastructure development projects.

Between 2000 and 2020, Arkics's population grew from 800 million to 13 billion All million people lack basic dirinking water services, 77 and million lack basic sonitation services (including 208 million who still practise open detection), not 839 million kto still practise open disparities within countries, between urban disparities within countries, between urban between the richest and poorest parts of the between the richest and poorest parts of the production (WFF process on princing Water Countries, between the richest and poorest parts of the socialation (MFF process on princing Water Countries, between the richest and poorest parts of the socialation (MFF process on princing Water Countries, between the richest and poorest parts of the socialation (MFF process on princing Water Countries, between the richest and poorest parts of the socialation (MFF) and the social social the first process on princing Water Countries, between the richest and poorest parts of the social the first process on princing Water Countries, between the richest and poorest parts of the social the first process on princing Water Countries, between the richest and poorest parts of the social the first process on princing Water Countries, between the richest and poorest parts of the social the first process on princing Water Countries, between the richest and poorest parts of the social the first process on princing Water Countries and the social the first principal the social the soc women CEOs. In line with the low representation of women in renewable energy specialist and leadership roles, the number of female renewable energy entrepreneurs is still very low But there is reason to hope for significant growth: The IEA's Sustainable Africa Scenario estimates that 4 million additional energy-related jobs will be needed across the continent by 2030 - offering entry into the and increased entreprepeurial opportunities for women (IFA's Africa Energy Outlook), Noteworthy women venture entrepreneurs in the renewable energy space include the entrepreneurs on GOGLA's list of Women Leaders in the Off-Grid Solar Energy Industry. An inspiring example for a women-led and women-focused organisation in renewable energy is Solar Sister.

Sanitation and Hygiene in Africa 2000-2020). This indicates the vast size of and nuanced demand and needs within the sector.

Calculating the number of componies operating in the sector can be difficult, with the presence of both informal and formal operations. As a public utility, though, periodic sector pathogenetic presence of presence of the sector pathogenetic presence intervention. It is a public pathogenetic prerelative jow Recogning the tremendous unmet demand in the WAH space, and the policies to activate the pathogenetic than, governments are increasingly interventional difficult in the pretor the sector pathogenetic based intervention of the pathogenetic based intervention.



Noteworthy market segments in this sector include:

- Water treatment
- Water monitoring/storag
- Water access (Solar desalination
- Water technical consulting/repair
- Irrigation wate
- Bural & urban water management
- Sanitation
- Wastewater

Women's participation in water supply and WASH businesses is relatively low. A recent study led by The World Bank's Water Global Practice (Women in Water Utilities, Breaking Barriers) highlights that in the water sector, less than one in five workers are women When considering the particular underrepresentation of women in decisionmaking management and technical roles reasons could include the relatively lower rates of education in engineering and geology, lack of company and government policies to include women at all levels, cultural factors, social perceptions and the lack of gender parity policies.

An example of one of the few women-led companies in the water management space is Water Access Rwanda.

Smart aariculture

The ogricultural sector in Africa is estimated to graduate the sector of the sector of the sector of relatively nascent and growing sub-sector, it is difficult to estimate the current size of the smart agriculture market. However, the forecasted growth in the agricultural space is expected to be driven by innovative technologies and practices, including smart agriculture.

There has been a recert rise in the number of smrt agiscluture strutus, working to improve efficiencies, boost productivity and reduces leveraging technologis. There is due o growing interest in strengthening smort agiobulinesse – which can be seen in the increasing number of entrepreneurship support programs and investment funds apport program and and apport of approximation approxim

Emerging technological and startup advances observed in the following segments:

- Digital data-driven agriculture
- Precision farming (e.g. GIS
- Al-driven platforms; e.g. UjuziKilimo, Tulaa, AGIN, ProjectFARM and Apollo Agriculture
- Drones: Increasingly used to monitor crops, map soil, spray, plant seeds, etc.

While women produce an estimated 60 to 80 per cent of garicultural production in developing countries (Local Development Research Institute), and form the majority of the agricultural workforce, their role is primarily limited to the provision of labour. As development organisations work towards transforming subsistence to commercial forming the role of women as owners leaders and entrepreneurs is often limited by access to land rights, productive resources, extension and market information, capital and family and cultural norms. Faced with structural. systemic and societal barriers, women agrientrepreneurs often remain informal, tend to underperform and have a high risk of failure. Smart agriculture has, however, the potential to strengthen the role of and opportunity for women at all levels of the value chain, by addressing challenges women have been facing in this sector, such as access to relevant and timeline information, inputs, etc.

In the gari-foodtech sector, an increasing amount of venture capital is being invested but is not reaching women entrepreneurs (AgriFunder, 2022). In 2018, only 3% of funding dollars and 7% of deals went to female-only founded startups in the Agri-FoodTech industry, an increase of only 2% and 4% since 2013 (mwoma ora) So far until 2020 only 3% of financial investments have been allocated to female-led startups in Africa (Briter Bridges) When considering more advanced technologies like AI and machine learning in smart agriculture, while there are noteworthy female developers like Nazirini Sirali from Mbale Uganda who created the "Farmers Companion App", most Al projects and companies originating in countries across Africa are male-dominated [The Artificial Intelligence Labour Gender Gap in Africa. Centre for Intellectual Property and Information Technology Strathmore University (2021)]. This results in significant gender disparities with implications for emerging Albased aariculture technologies and companies

Waste management

An industry report by Mordor Intelligence estimates that the size of the waste management market in Africa is USD 6.85 billion and anticipates its growth at 5.54% per year for the next five years. Waste collection in most African countries is inadequate, with the average collection rate at 55%. It is worth noting that 90% of all waste generated in Africa ages to uncontrolled dumpsites. Furthermore, 13% of waste on the continent is plastic, while 57% of it is organic. An estimated 70 to 80% of all waste generated in Africa is recyclable. However, only 4% is currently recycled, presenting a huge potential for innovators of collection and recycling solutions (UNEP's Africa Waste Management Outlook, 2018).

There has been a recent rise in the number of smnt agriculture stratups, working to improve efficiencies, boost productivity and reduce thereaging thereases in the strangthering smort growing interest in strangthering smort growing interest in strangthering smort growing interest in strangthering smort support programs and investment funds support programs and investment funds appliculture statupg boots the continent (Variational Covaria Advisor). As within other green sectors, women are actively involved in the sector, however mainly in low-level jobs such as in waste collection, separation and sorting A study on informal ewaste refurctivement in Nigeria, for example, showed that male workers dominated the workforce, while there were hardy any women in refurbibiling and repair (<u>Scibaria</u>, <u>Gender</u> and e-waste management in Africa).

Women currently have very limited access to higher-income and decision-making roles, and are being excluded when wastemanagement activities are formalised, missing out on protection and benefits (<u>UNEP</u>, <u>Why</u>, <u>gender</u> dynamics matter in waste management).

Recogning the Importance of private enterprise to gone opportunities for women and protect the climate, a number of efforts to engage women to turn waste into useful products exist. However, these too are relatively lower down the value chain. Interpretation of the support one dois growing number, and starting to use dois growing number, and starting to target women entrepreneus for their programs.

Noteworthy market segments within which innovations are taking root include:

- Waste to energy
- Plastic waste (Magdalene Ontoba, Magvision, Ghana; Bilikiss Adebivi-Abiola, co-founder of WeCyclers (Nigeria)
- Municipal waste
- Food waste reduction
- Recycling (Kudakwashe Dhliwayo, Vital Recycling Zimbabwe; Lorna Rutto, EcoPost, Kenya; Chinenye Okoro Onu, co-founder Mosaic Inspiration Project (Ghana))
- Chemical waste
- E-waste

Climate action

Africa faces increasingly pressing climaterelated issues and crises, holding droughts, floods, desettilication, storms, etc. Climate action is receiving growing attention as a rapibly evolving sector with the ability to address these challenges. Technology plays an important role in enability countries to become more sustainable and resilient to climate change.

It is difficult to speak to the status of gender inclusivity in all of the above industries across Africa. It should be first noted that when considering the impact of climate change, women are disproportionately vulnerable (<u>Awiti</u> 2022). For example, they represented more than 75 per cent of these displaced due to rains and flooding in 18 African countries in 2007 (UNICEF (2008) Our Climate Our Children, Our Responsibility).

Women have been traditionally obsert from the already limited climate-informed policy and decision-making in Artica (<u>lumiteru</u> and <u>plana</u> 2006). The current "trend to frame climate change as a problem that needs technical and scientific solutions," makes it even more difficult to involve women as key solution holders and limits their adoption of climate technologies.

Climate-focused women-led companies, as in other green sub-sectors, find it challenging to access the much-needed capital to launch and arow their business.

Noteworthy market segments within which innovations are taking root include:

- Climate Information Services
- Climate Risk Analytics and Risk Management
- Climate Finance, ESG investing and Fintech
- Climate Risk Management and Intelligence
- Carbon Farming
- Battery/EV, ridesharing, electric micro-mobility
- Carbon credits/markets
- Circular economy (Yaye Souadou, co-founder and President of Ecover (Senegal);

Blue economy

The lock of consensus on standardised categoritation in within the blue economy highlights how complex It is to define and cativities within the sector. Despite this challing of categorization, the blue economy in Africa is particularly under-explored and invested in, but with tremendous potential for economic growth, improved livelihoods and environmental sustainability.

The continent's vast coastline and freshwater resources provide ample oppartunities for the farming of fish at various scales of operation. With the market for aquaculture and smallscale fisheries expanding, countries like Nigeria, Egypt, Ghana, Uganda and South Africa have witnessed a significant growth in production. A number of efforts are underway to encourage sustainable firthing practices, to strengthen positive policies and enables forounable market links. While the African contribution to world opaceture production is relatively low or only around 27% (<u>Ean</u> <u>Annacuture Newsletter, Bis-III)</u>, the region encoded a twenty-fold production Increases from 1995 to 2018 (<u>FAO The State of World</u> <u>Ethenies and Apoundures 2008</u>)

Tangentially, non-farming activities are also attracting growing interest blue economy space. Innovations to harness energy from currents and affshore wind are growing, with potential seen in countries like Mazambique, South Africa, Somalia, Madagascar and Maracco exhibiting particularly good resources (filterer et al.) However, these require substantial investment and specialized technical expertise, posing significant barriers for entrepreneurs. On the other hand, certain innovations within reach of entrepreneurs are also gaining traction. For instance, the farming of seaweed as fertilizer, sustainable costal toutism, and blue corbon initiatives (eq. manqrowe) are promising.

The protectical engagement of women in the blue economy space carries carries industries and countries. In general, women play a crucial rate in smoler-scale activities like faining, farming, waste management, etc., however, their participation in pacifics of leadership and decision-making is relatively women's representations is during traditively oweners' representations is during traditively oweners' representations in during traditively — for similar reasons mentioned in previous sub-sectors. The African aquaculture sector employs about 6.2 million people, a large number of whom are women engaged in large-scale commercial farms and predominantly involved in downstream postharvest and marketing operations of the gauge ulture value chain (Satia 2016. An overview of the large marine ecosystem programs at work in Africa today, Environ Dev. 17.11-19.). The private sector has been a driving force in the development of this sub-sector, and often faces challenges like inadequate availability of capital. quantities and qualities of seed and feeds. resource competition, management and overall governance in the sector (Satia BP. 2016. An overview of the large marine ecosystem programs at work in Africa today, Environ Dev. 17:11-19).

3.2 Understanding female entrepreneurship in the green sectors

In order to understand the role and potential of ferroid gene entrepreneurship, bit importants and in perturbant within the selected gene satisfies. This dependence is a proper determined potential potential of the selected selected selected and the selected sel

The entrepreneurial pursuit: Journey, size and Scale of Startups

Literature on entrepreneurship, in Africa and worldwide, distinguih between necessity and opportunity entrepreneurs (Reynolds et al., 2005). Even though Ross et al. (2006) point out that the motivation of entrepreneurs is often complex and includes a variety of aspects, we will still use the theoretical formework of necessity versus opportunity entrepreneurs to explain the impact of socieeconomic status, education and cultural entrepreneurs in Africa A. comprehensive antropheneurs in Africa A. comprehensive sector reveals that although women are active in the green sectors, their representation in the startup ecosystem is still very low.

Indexit, data from Briter Éridges database collected, show that startups with women as co-founders or founders who have raised funde during the period from 2015 to 2023 only represent one third of the male founded startups in the sector. The figure below depicts the details of the female founded and co-founded representation in the startups ecosystem on the continent.



frican funded green startups - Gender distribution (2018 - 2023

Besides, across the five green sectors, when looking at the number of deals completed by startups on the continent, the top categories for female co-founded areen investments by the number of deals are waste management (40%), smart agriculture and forestry (27%), water management (31%), renewable energy (17%), and blue tech (5%).

Greenovations report - The green innovation ecosystem in Africa.

Opportunity entrepreneurs

Characteristic for opportunity entrepreneurs is their conceptual approach and thinking in the first start-up phase:

During business formation, they identify a problem, on opportunity or market gap. Based on this problem or opportunity, several possible business solutions are considered and the mission and vision of the business is formulated. The initial strategy of the business emerges from this mission and vision statement. At this stage, the opportunity entropeneur typically also forms a cofounding core team.

During **business volidation**, opportunity entrepreneurs create a first prototype of their product or service often called the "minimum viable product" and test it in their market. Based on initial findings, they change or improve the product. In this phase, the entrepreneurical vision and the business solution might be changed several times, It is important to mention that this phase requires a relatively high level of skills, and the knowhow and willingness to take calculated risks. While opportunity entrepreneurs might require some level of guidance through training and mentoring, they are quick to take up new ideas and skills.

During business growth, opportunity entropreneurs seek to estabilish their businesses formally and strengthen systems madel injustices and strengthen systems madel injustices and strengthen business madel injustices and strengthen and financial services in general is crucial. In this phase, many opportunity interpreneur single regular enangy opportunity interpreneur single regular financial modelling, as well as access to coatel and networks.



Start-up Development Phases by startupcommons.org

It is important to note that in Maco, only one in the granth-oriented coportunity, entergrammarus are formatic (GBA Women's Entergrammaruhite) Report 2022). Reaction registion Include the relatively high risks of apportunity-oriented transmission and and grow start-spin in addition, many appring formals opportunity, intergrammarus strangel was extend an entergrammaruhity and stort-ups are and should be a mergeneraustrip and stort-ups are and should be a

The women who start opportunity-driven business are often highly educated, have araduated from university or another higher education institution. Most female opportunity entrepreneurs are biobly resourced. They come from middle or upper class economic backgrounds and can count on the support of their family and community. They are well networked, and familiar with formal economical and financial structures, institutions and processes. Many of them are technically and dialtally savyy; and exposed to entreprepeurial and inpovative influence online and offline. Typically, they are passionate about their business, the sector they engage in and the problem they try to solve.

Necessity entrepreneurs

The journey and business types of necessity entrepreneurs take a different shape. Many necessity entrepreneurs run several types of small-scale husinesses or combine entrepreneurship with paid jobs and farming activities. Weber et al. (2022) distinguish between four types of necessity entrepreneurs: Farmer entrepreneurs, who run their farms both for subsistence and business, and earn a major part of their income through farming. Subsistors, who sell only little of their own farm produce, and also engage only occasionally in entrepreneurial activity in order to make ends meet Wage supplementors, whose main income source is through employment, and who complement this through additional entrepreneurial activity and farming. And market innovators, who are engaged in non-farming entrepreneurship. may employ others and generate most of their income through it.

All of these types of necessity entregreneous tools in common that they are not driven by solving aproxiem or filling a manuta gap. They calculate a provide the solution of the calculate and the solutions of the solutions. Using business formation, they therefore all doubless the solutions of the solutions of the base in the solutions with they how seen baring ans successfully in their immediate of the base in the solutions with they how requires only title capital and based by other, requires only title capital and possibilite that, lower advacation kerels and lock of entregremental alite models in thereings to advaced, text-homologic businesses.

In the business validation phase, necessity entrepreneutir main concerns the stability of the business. They consider whether they are based to any the business longer term. If they and the required skills to 'make it work'. If the business does not yield the expected results, necessity entrepreneuts tend to give up the necessary utilits and resources to objust and network utilits and resources in objust. benefit from basic entrepreneurship skills building, such as financial literacy, bookkeeping and basic marketing.

Significant business growth rarely happens in the case of necessity entropreneurshy. The businesses remain relatively small, risk-averse generations, static and resources to grow their businesses, and often da not have any access to finance, networks and appendituities in general: Heiping them access these services might enable moderate growth of businesses, might enable moderate growth of businesses, imitted, among others due to ink-averseness and limited mongement skills.

While women in Sub-Schara Africa are equally represented arong entrepresents as man, there are major differences when it comes to business size and growth orientation (<u>Campos</u> et al. White paper on gender and enterprise development). African women are more likely than men to be necessity entrepreneurs aving to fewer formal education, employment and funding opportunities (<u>EC 2028</u>).

Many women fall under the category of subsistors, only engaging in entrepreneurship occasionally and complementary subsistence farming. There are however also many female farmer entrepreneurs and market innovators who earn the main household income through entrepreneurial activity. The main reason for most women entrepreneurs to remain in the necessity spectrum are the barriers they face, such as: lack of time, lack of resources and education. limited access to networks and opportunities, lack of acceptance etc. In addition, the Covid-19 pandemic caused many female entrepreneurs to deviate from more risky, innovative business models to proven, low-risk necessity businesses.

An example for this is Gertrude Kashoka, Founder of Mangias Solar, a company involved in solar installation and distribution based in Sivoonga District in Zambia. She explained that



The specific challenges and barriers and resulting support needs of female entrepreneurs will be discussed in detail later in this report. The disparity between a large number of female necessity numbers versus a relatively small number of female apportunity entrepreneurs is also present in the selected management, uwate management, emant agriculture and climate action in Artico. These is a large number of female entrepreneurs engaging in small-scale, low-tech businesses within these sectors, such as solar lamp manufacturing, water filter and clean water soles, cookstowe distribution, and waste recycling. Their motivations and business journays tend to be aligned to the overall case - they need to generate income, and "make ends meet; and green technologies and product options like solar lamps or water filters are available to them in their context.

Female opportunity entrepreneurs in green sectors, in contract, are very (w. There is only a small number of tech-enabled start-ups that are (co-floaded and nut by women. Their motivations might include ecological and austanholity considerations elong with scaling their business model to success, as unther outlead in chapter 32 and in chapter antropreneurs' includes both temole entrepreneurs' includes both temole opportunity entrepreneurs, as well as more necessity-driven green innovators in the informal sector.

The green factor: Aspects that affect the journey of female entrepreneurs in the green sectors

So for we have discussed the start-up journey of an archetypical African opportunity entrepreneur, and the profile of women who follow this journey. When now adding the lens of green sector entrepreneurship, one can state that the described journey of these female apportunity entrepreneurs remains valid overall: Just as other opportunity entrepreneurs, green entrepreneurs usually start with identifying a business opportunity to address a market and environmental need. As they test the business opportunity, they learn about the market, define aspects of their service or product, and consider how they will produce and sell them. As the green businesses arow, they face similar challenges in accessing the market and resources, such as skilled labour and capital.

There are however a couple of nuances and particularities that characterise entrepreneurial engagement in these green sectors specifically, and might shape the journey of female green entrepreneurs in Africa:

- The motivation to start and grow a business might not only be driven by filling a market gap or "making it" as an entrepreneur, but also include a passion for sustainability and environmental topics.
- There might be a need for specific technical skills and knowledge that are essential to develop and sell green products and services, which could be a major barrier for women who are still underrepresented in STEM fields.
- In some of the green sectors, women entrepreneurs might struggle with perceptions and acceptance - both of new technologies and approaches, as well as of themewhere as entrepreneurs. This can negatively affect market access and access to finance; both of which are major challenges for green entrepreneurs anywars.
- As most market segments of the green sectors are relatively young and emerging, there is also a high risk of failure. With limited market knowledge, changing

, changing ecosystem conditions, and lack of comparable products and business models, the right incentives and support structures become very important.

- As most businesses in the innovation space, green sector businesses require high commitment and massive time investment; a challenge especially for women who juggle work, household and family responsibilities.
- Business models and products in green sectors such as renewable energy, water and waste often substitute or compete with public infrastructure and have to grow rapidly and operate at scale in order to be successful.

Furthermore, as entrepreneurs create foundational infrastructure for countries, they are subject to major influence of governments that regulate them. While this can increase profitability and stability in some cases, changing political conditions might also increase risk, and make it difficult for green businesses to grow and succeed. This is especially true for women entrepreneurs in the green sectors, who anyways face barriers to access commercial and equily financia, technological know-how, and networks of support.

While any of these aspects might or might nor diffect female entropeneurs in the selected green sectors, it is important to keep in mindcontrist a d-aubile bardsen. Green women entropeneurs face barriers related to their gender, as well as particular challenges related to operating a business in the green sectors. These specific challenges and sectors. These specific challenges and outlined and septiamed in detail in chapter 4 or this report.

3.3 Importance and potential impact of women in green sectors across Africa

At present women are still a minority among founders of innovative and arowth-oriented green businesses. In Kenya, for example, only 27% of green businesses identified have women on their founding teams (Ande Building the Green Economy, 2023). As the areen sectors advance and arow, and as economic political and educational conditions for women improve, the potential for women entrepreneurs to increase their impact is immense. This chapter gives an outlook on a promising future. It describes the potential impact women could have, and why continued gender inclusion matters greatly for the development of the green sectors.

3.3.1 Women entrepreneurs as drivers of growth in the green sectors

So far, women are disproportionately concentrated in the lower spheres of discision-making hierarchy of companies. Women entrepreneurs access less investment and support than their male counterparts and therefore othen give up, or remain in the necessity spectrum of entrepreneurship. During the Covid-19 pandemic, many women entrepreneurs in the green sectors shifted their efforts into other, non-green sectors where it was easier to survive.

However, a number of factors indicate that the number and significance of female entrepreneurs in the green sectors will improve significantly over the next few years: Africa's middle class is arowing, and so is the number of well-resourced middle class women who might possess the skills, resources and risk propensity to venture into green entrepreneurship. The number of female university anduates is on the rise, and efforts are undertaken to close the gender gap in STEM fields (Worldbank: The Equality Equation, 2020). Governments, NGOs and donor organisations create an increasing number of regional and national programs, networks and resources to support female entrepreneurs in the green sectors specifically (Ande Green Entrepreneurship in Kenya Snapshot, 2023).

A great collection of examples can be found in the Network and Resource Directory by Power Africo (<u>Inskei</u>) 2022). In partiels, funders and inscitors on the exclusinged. In Day mount exceeding investment, vehicles for the grean sectors in particular, for example <u>INIPE</u> <u>Womerra</u> Grean Business inlicitive transformed much all third incless hopes that many more evenan will find factocoles generations grean business.

The developments of the past years give more reason to hope, in emerging markets, an estimate of 30 to 37% of SME are womencomest, and women-led builances can this in the green sectors, the number of entrepreneus: a growing in particular in the fields of climate adaptation in agriculture and fields and climate adaptation in agriculture and reenvoide energy, with a smaller number of strategenetic adaptation for young (<u>Appendice</u>) and <u>Appendice</u> (Strategenetic) and <u>his Tehrone</u> Africa (2011)

Women entrepreneurs can be strong agents of change, benefitting from and contributing to commercial advancement in the green sectors; They make up half of Africa's population; their engagement as entrepreneurs is an important factor for economic growth and development of the green sectors.

3.3.2 Influence of female actors on the green sectors across the Quintuple Helix

Successful lenale entrepreneurs are not the only group that matters for the growth and development of the green sectors. The Quintuple Helix illustrates the variety of actors and their contributions to the green entrepreneurship ecosystem. Women do already play an active role on allevels of this ecosystem, with a lot of patential for greater impact in the comina vears.

Women in Tech Hubs

 Women in tech hubs can play a significant role in the inclusion of more women in the green sectors. Multiple inclusion efforts stress the importance of women enablers as mentors, managers, trainers, coaches, etc. In strengthening women entrepreneurs. This is not only reflected in the quality of female influencers but the quality of female leadership as role models in tech hubs which also significantly attracts participation by female techpreneurs. An example for this is Dorcos Owina, who leads: <u>laketbab Klumu</u> and empowers many patential female entrepreneurs through her public engagement on gender inclusion.

 Especially in contexts where women see entrepreneurship or a male dominated space, women enablers at tech hubs can form the first line of influence and act as role models, encouraging women to participate in programs that, over time, support them as entrepreneurs.

Women as Funders

- There is a well-acknowledged need for more funds to invest in female founders. This is also evident in a number of womenbudget in the state of the state of the trygma Ventures Fund (2022) that focuses on investing in women entrepreneurs in Southern and fast Africa at the validation to scaling phase, and <u>Altherem</u> (2023) that has a pan African focus on women obsequent at the scaling and growth phases.
- Women in decision-making positions at funding organisations bring to the table their unique experiences and perspectives, potentially shared by women entropreneurs. As they have a better understanding of the needs and challenges of women entropreneurs, they con inform investment approaches and decisions, and create a more nuanced geneter equilable funding landscope.

Women in Development Cooperation

 As relatively more resourced organizations, international development cooperation efforts could have immense influence on the sectors and markets in which they work. Women within these organizations could advocate for gender inclusivity efforts, and for resources to be invested in such efforts.

- Women working in the 'green' departments in development cooperation could also contribute as menters. They often have technical and/or managerial expertise that might be of immense value to young female entrepreneurs.
- Women in Government and Policy Institutions
- Considering that women policy-makers might be more likely to have faced similar issues as female entrepreneurs, they are better positioned to represent and advocate for their needs in policy-making, as compared to their male counterparts.
- Women in government could serve as champions and role models
 - within the government system, not only prioritising social and environmental issues, but also for the inclusiveness of policies and programs that enable increased participation of women.
 - within the ecosystem, inspiring the next generation of female leaders in the green sector.

Women in Academia and Universities

- More targeted promotion of STEM and technical education to women will hopefully lead to more women vill academia in those fields. They are needed for young women to see that these are sectors for women. Female researchers, post-docs and professors could act as mentors and guides for young women in the sector, and encourage them to work on innovations and start-ups.
- Female STEM researchers and university personnel can better relate to the challenges that young female students, researchers and entrepreneurs face and can speak to those challenges directly.

Women in Civil Society

- Women as custamers, household decision makers and community influencers can play a major role in pushing green innovations and in fostering sustainability an a grassroots level.
- Women, due to their cultural and societal role, often tend to prioritize sustainable, healthy and responsible solutions. Their valce in civil society organizations, activitat movements and community organizations can therefore make a difference for the green sectors overall.



Figure 2: Quintuple helix of innovation and entrepreneurship

27

3.3.3 Cultural and societal impact of women on the development of the green sectors

African women as drivers of green change matter—as entrepreneurs, ecosystem actors, consumers and community members. Several cultural and societal factors determine the impact and significance of women on the development of the green sectors and sustainable development in Africa overall.

First, due to their sense of responsibility and long-term thinking, as well as their position as primary beneficiaries of green solutions (as well as being the ones to suffer the lack thereof) (Ande Building the Green Economy, 2023), women play a crucial role as catolysts for innovative climate solutions (AWCE, Towards a Gender-Transformative Climate Finnere Roadma, 2022).

Secondly, women ore othen well-networked and deeply embedded in their communities. They take active roles in local decision making, and organise themselves in groups and cooperatives. Their works and opinions matter, as such they can pilor a mojor role in promoting the adoption of innovative green technologies and solutions at a grassroots level. For exempte, women as the main users beat, and leverage their externitive local networks to build trust anound renewable energy, and drives loss (BRERM, 2019, p. 27) Furthermore, women are often custodians of indigenous knowledge in the green local economy, especially related to agriculture and food production (Lukhele-Olorunju et al. 2018, and Seleti et al, 2017). As such, they might play an important role in policy formulation commercialization and IP related frameworks around indigenous green knowledge (Rallying Cry 2022) A vivid example is Betty Nyirongo, a 72 year old women entrepreneur in Zambia who is preserving and replanting wild fruit trees, and who is now educating the young generation on traditional preservation methods through indigenous knowledge. She has influenced public action around commercialization of indigenous knowledge in Zambia and is currently working with universities to develop local indiaenous knowledge frameworks.

Latty, in many African societies, even those precived as particular, women tend to be the "hidden" decision mokers on household spendings (<u>EMEGIA 2018</u>, p. 20), and could as spendings (<u>EMEGIA 2018</u>, p. 20), and could as such massively influence the adoption of they also have a huge impact on the perception, attitudes and priorities of their children, who are the customers, decision makes and entrepreneus of tomorrow.

3.4 Key Insights

Summing up, we would like to point out the following key conclusions and insights drawn from Chapter 3 on "Overview of woman engagement in the current entrepreneurship landscape across the African Green Sectors".

01	Each of the selected green sectors of renewable energy, works monogeners, water management, climate obtained to be economyleaned and annot opticulture has many highly-specialised and tech-enabled market segments that are currenity small, but growing at high speed. Women are still under-opresented as entrepresents and actors in all of these sectors.
02	In the discuss estimateurs of experiment of an end of the establish between to ac- biant in the discuss estimateurs of the estimateurs of the estimateurs of the found annexistance of the estimateurs of the estimateurs of the order of the estimateurs of the estimateurs of the estimateurs of the estimateurs willing and data to start and give innovaline, the estimateurs of the estimateurs of the estimateurs of the estimateurs of the estimateurs of the estimateurs of the estimateurs of the estimateurs in Africa heaters to be estimateurs of the endpoint of the estimateurs in Africa heaters to be the estimateurs of the endpoint of the estimateurs in Africa heaters to be the estimateurs of the endpoint of the estimateurs in Africa heaters to be estimateurs of the endpoint of the estimateurs of the estimateu
03	Even though the journey of entrepreneurs in the green sectors is similar to the overall entrepreneural journey, there are particular challenges and opportunities when the monotonian to start of possible to move how, perspections and acceptance, market access and marketing, and access to finance in addition many buintesses within the removable energy, water and water management
	sectors are required to scale rapidly, and are dependent on governments and changing political situations.
04	The potential to include women at all levels of the green ecosystem cannot be underestimated – there are clear signs that their impact and significance not only as entrepresents, bit allo as ecosystem actions, consumers and community members will increase steepy over the coming years.



Challenges of women entrepreneurs in the green sectors in Africa Women entrepreneurs in the green sector in Africa face various challenges, including limited access to education and information, moristics, networks, funding, and cultural and mindset barriers. These challenges hinder their growth and success, but with the right support, they can overcome these barriers and contribute significantly to the Green innovation sector.

This section highlights;

- · the challenges faced by women entrepreneurs in the green sector and their support needs.
- women entrepreneurs operating in the green sector, which encompasses various sub sectors such as renewable energy, water management, smart agriculture and climate action.
- the challenges faced by women entrepreneurs across different stages of their entrepreneurial journey, including ideation, venture creation, growth, and accessing funding as evidenced in Chapter 3.
- lessons and experiences shared during data collection which included case studies and stories of entrepreneurs and key stakeholders in the green innovation sector.

4.1 Overview on barriers faced by women entrepreneurs in the Green Innovation sector in Africa

The green sector is a critical sector for sustainable development and women entreprepeurs play a vital role in driving its growth. However, women entrepreneurs in the green sector in Africa face significant challenges that binder their success First they are hindered by barriers faced by women entrepreneurs generally, and secondly by barriers that are unique to their start up and scale up phase specific to the green sector. These include [1]; limited access to education and information, markets, networks and opportunities, funding, cultural and mindset barriers and policy and systemic barriers. Barriers exist at various formation stages of women entrepreneurs. As alluded to in previous chapters, there are 3 main stages of entrepreneurship formation including: ideation. validation and growth.

This chapter surfaces key aspects on the social, economic, cultural and systemic barriers that may axist at these stages of starting and growing a business in the green economy. To address some of these challenges, women entrepreneurs in the green sector require access to training and education programs to enhance their knowledge and skills. They also need access to information on sustainable practices, technology, and management. Building strong networks and access markets and business opportunities is also critical, which could include mentoring, networking events, and access to international markets.

Further, Women entrepreneurs in the green sector require access to funding, including venture capital angel investment, and loans from financial institutions. This requires financial institutions and investors to develop gender-responsive financial products and services that cater to the needs of women entrepreneurs.

Cultural and Mindset Barriers have also proven to be a major statuck to advancing gender equality in the green innovation sactor Worne enterpresents in the green insected mindset borriers. This includes advaccay and avareness compaigns to challenge gender stereotypes and promote the participation of worten is an entrepreneurship. Additionally, metholong and coaching programs can help develop a growth mindset.

4.2 Barriers across business stages

Chapter 2 identifies the journey of an entrepreneur as divided in three major phases of Business Formation, Business Validation and Business Growth. In discussing challenges, we further explore all of these gender aspects along those three stages.

2.4.1 Business formation and validation phase

Findings from focus group discussions and key informant interviews during our research reveal three common challenges faced in the startup or early stage of women led businesses in the green sector. These are categorized in three main areas including MVP positioning and prototyping, limited market information, lack of pre-seed capital and limited industry skills. For example, Participants agreed to having challenges in establishing him MVP despite having a strang value proposition. They reported that it took much honge to bideau, dation MVP and to start generating revenue. A respondent that that not example

² UNCTAD (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development). (2021). Women's Entrepresensible for Sustainable and Inclusive Industrial Development. Retrieved from <u>https://unctad.org/wydem/files/official-document/distrc20/ild2_en_pdf</u>

I wasn't confident about my product going to market and even though I was clear about its value proposition (I took time for me to astabilish a viable revenue model. I had vary little knowledge about similar products in the market and how to run this as a business.

With regards to limited industry skills, porticipants reported challenges in identifying startup teams with required knowledge and skills in their industry, particularly in water management, waste management and climate action. It took longer to grow their teams and they usually experienced high turnover as most skilled lober would rather work full time in a larger more stable green industry business.

A key informant from the financial sector also highlighted that the probability of an early stage green innovation startup to exist beyond 3 years is high and comes with a huge financial investment risk.

I wasn't conflident about my product going to market and even though I was clear about its value proposition, it took time for me to astabilish a viable revenue model. I had very little knowledge about similar products in the market and how to run this as a business.

Business growth stage

There are a number of things to consider when it comes to analyzing growth barriers faced by women led businesses in the green sector. Growth metrics and indicators are often rated differently for women led businesses in comparison to male led and this could have potential negative impact on how female founders raise growth capital, attain market share and sustain growth and green innovation.

For example, growth accelerator programs that are focused on promoting female entrepreneurship may be less robust on eligibility criteria, have less stringent assessment tools and may offer more flexability during training and coaching, lowever, when it comes to raking capital, lowever, when it comes to raking capital, this misalignment may disadvantage the rates. This pose a question on some of the theoretise and practices an growth and gender interacted decim.

In green innovations, the experience may be even more intensis for women, given the early stage emergence status of the sector. For example, a versen led business in Molawi that cultivates black solder files participated in o tabla of 7 accelerator programs, minimum 4 menths each but failed to raise any growth and inconstitutions, in provide access, she and inconstitutions, in provide access, and parely on the informant's opinion and net derived from saccelific evidence.

We concluded that despite a number of entrepreneurship support programs and facilities available to support women led growth stage businesses, developing steady pipelines remains a huge challenge and this is even more evident for women led businesses in the green sector. The struggle to attain exponential growth, attract appropriate capital and gain access to credible mentoring and coaching support. Further, most programs are designed to support capital raise but few are looking at post funding support. A financial sector key informant identified two major funding challenges experienced by capital providers looking to fund green women businesses i.e poor pipeline and lack of scalability

In climate action, including bicdiversity conservation, the few growth stages businesses operating in the sector and mainly social enterprises with unclicer market solutions depend largely on grant funding. A study by Mexima, 2013 bhows that social enterprise moviewing profitability while sustaining impact Mexit growth accelerator models in green innovations are not designed to address this challenge.

1 feel there is a ceiling when it comes to funding women green builtiesses. They fund us according to what is already determined by the doner and not what our builtinesses need for growth. Usually, this funding is very small and can't even cover our milestones' Although this challenge identified by Niza is common across all sectors, the green innovations sector records higher numbers of green business proposals that are funded less than 20% of what the businesses apoly for.²

Nas Simwanza Gasbees Energy Zambia

4.3 Thematic barriers

4.3.1 Access to education



Women entrepreneurs in the green innovations sector in Africa. However, there are several barriers that women face in this regard including the following:

a) Limited Educational Opportunities: In many parts of Africa, women have limited access to quality education, particularly at higher levels. According to the International Finance Corporation (IFC), aver 70% of women-averad

businesses in Africa are in low-stilled sectors. This atto includes lock of financial education which is strongly linked to an ability to run a business effectively. This hampers their calible to acquire the necessary knowledge and skills related to green innovations. Gender biase and stereotypes often discourage girs from pursuing science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) fields, which are vital for green entrepreneurship.

3 Biodiversity Finance Study, 2021

International Finance Corporation (IFC)
Usually, the key driver is not that they are already silicad and or experienced in the sector, but the desire to fulfil a potential market need. This further compromises their odds of success given that they most likely will not have the silis, education, experience, knowledge and exposure required to venture in the sector.

Women in smart agriculture for example reported that new developments and innovation in Agritech, motivated them to start even though they did not have a background in STM fields. However, they also identified that lack of education and experience limited their growth patential.

b) Information and Knowledge Gap: Women entrepreneurs in the green innovations sector often face challenges in accessing relevant information and knowledge. This can be due to limited availability of resources, lack of awareness about green technologies and practices, and insufficient dissemination of information about funding opportunities, training programs and market trends Only 37% of women in sub-Saharan Africa have access to the internet further exprerbation the dialtal divide and hindering their access to online resources and market opportunities. Limited internet connectivity and digital literacy further exacerbate the information gap. Further analysis on information gap shows that a lot of information, training and content on the green sector including support mechanisms for women entrepreneurs are found online and on digital platforms which most women entrepreneurs don't have access to or simply lack digital skills to maximize learnina.



Understand Informati

WEAC, a women's entrepreneurship support center in Zambia confirms that anilne training programs that do not incorporate in-person interactions will most likely have a higher attrilian rate and or poor attendance_Kapoche Mwale Impact and Evaluation Lead. WEAC May 2023.

c) Outburn and Societal Homm: Cultural and societal norms can pose significant barriers along the entrepreneural journey and an unemain access to education, information seguritations may prioritis elevants' admentiation reproductions convincing and the education of pursuits, limiting their opportunities for learning and still development. Social and sociation norms could able limit women's ambiblions and ability and advisorities and question posside during our theories on how all question posside during our theories on how all possible businesses wided interesting results.



Most women entrepreneurs have the desire to succeed but foce limiting belief about their own copobilities usually because of cultural and societal norms that view women as unequal and less able. This is even three evident in STEM fields. Additionally, social norms that discurage women from engaging in entreprensurial activities can further hinder their access to education and information.

d) Financial Constraints: Umited financial resources can impade women's access to entrepreneural education, tools and information. Women entrepreneurs may struggie to afford quality education, vocational training programs, business development services, or participation in workshops and conferences or indeed incluation and acceleration programs. Despite significant increase in sponsorship programs targeting women entrepreneurs and their increased participation in capacity building programs, places are usually limited and mostly differed in main clies. Lock of access to credit and financial services further exacerbates these challenges, making it difficult for women to invest in their own education and training.

e) Lack of Mentorship and Networking Opportunities: Women entrepreneurs in the green innovations sector often face a lack of mentorship and networking opportunities, which are essential for knowledge sharing, skill development, and accession information. Male-dominated networks and professional associations may exclude or marginalize women, limiting their access to valuable contacts partnerships and learning opportunities. Finding mentors, especially females in green innovations is even more challenging than it is in other sectors. Most innovation hubs struggle to start and arow areen innovation communities as this is a sector that would not usually form part of the core entrepreneurship support programs. If they do exist, they are usually dominated by men. Because of inadequate steady green pipeline, the ratio innovation mentor/mentee in this sector is usually below average.

4.3.2Access to markets, networks and opportunities



Access to markets, networks, and opportunities is a critical factor for the success of women entrepreneurs in the green innovation sector in Africa. However, several barriers impede their ability to access these essential resources.

a) Limited Market Access: Wornen entropreneurs often face challenges in accessing markets for their green innovation products and services. They may encounter biases and discrimination when trying to enter established supply chains or source contracts with larger companies. ack of information about market demand, pricing mechanisms, and distribution channels further restricts their ability to reach optempts. b) Market knowledge, access and marketing:

Considering the relatively lower awareness for ecological topics, and resulting lower demand for green products and services, green entrepreneurs might find it difficult to access markets. They might need to linvest time and resources in educating potential customers, so the added value of green products is

understood and valued (Ande Building the Green Economy, 2023). Competitive products of lower quality destroy the reputation of a new technology or innovation,and make education about and promotion of green products and services difficult. It might furthermore be challenging to determine adequate price points for new products and services that are not yet known to the target group. Further, Deep-rooted gender biases and sterentypes can binder women's access to markets and networking opportunities. Traditional gender roles often confine women to specific sectors or roles, limiting their visibility and credibility in the business world. Stereotypes that associate women with softer skills rather than technical expertise can undermine their chances of accessing markets and networks in the green innovation sector. Women entrepreneurs face challenges in building networks and connections in the areen innovation sector Male-dominated professional networks and industry events may exclude or marginalize women, limiting their access to valuable contacts, partnerships, and business opportunities. This lack of networking opportunities can constrain their ability to access markets and gain visibility.

They may also face difficulties in accessing crucial information and resources related to market trends, emerging opportunities, and business support services. Limited internet connectivity. Inadequate access to business development programs, and a lack of tailored information can inhibit their ability to seize market opportunities and make informed business decisions.³

Access to financial resources and investment opportunities is often limited for women entrepreneurs in the green innovation sector looking to grow thint markets. Generations and investment in the software bit terms or limited access to capital Lack of collateral risk variation by investment. Lack of collateral risk available that businesses and limited available ability to scale that businesses and access and mark that the software software that the market businesses and access and that the software that the software that are market businesses and access the mark that the software the software that the software that

Women are also often underrepresented in decision-making spaces related to green innovation and entrepreneurship. This lack of representation diminishes their influence in shaping policies, accessing support programs, and participating in market-oriented initiatives.

It also hampers their ability to advocate for their interests and address systemic barriers that hinder market access.



4.3.3 Access to funding

Access to funding is a critical challenge faced by women entrepreneurs in the green limovations sector. According to a report by the African Development Bank, women entrepreneurs in Africa go to women-led startupes. The green ecosystem revealed a predominantly male dominated funding. Iondscape of green start-ups and ventures. Indeed, male founded start-ups capture a significant 89% of the \$3 Billion functing volume raised during the 2015 Billion functing volume co-founded start-ups recorded 10%, and All female co-founders were able to raise only 1%. of the funding volume. This asymmetrical funding distribution reflects the status in the broader startupe ecosystem.

Indeed, across all digital and technologydriven sectors during the same period, the distribution follows the same patterns with only 4% capital injection into Africa raised by allfemale startups/venture, the co-founded accounting for only 10% of the total number of deals?

Lack of collateral, limited financial literacy, and discriminatory lending practices make it challenging for women entrepreneurs to secure funding for their green innovation ventures.

Despite progress in promoting gender equality, women still encounter several barriers when it comes to securing financial resources for their ventures and these may include the following?

a) Limited Investor Networks: Women entrepreneurs often face difficulties in accessing established investor networks that predominantly consist of male investors. These networks tend to be more comfortable investing in businesses led by men or may have unconscious biases that favour male entrepreneurs. Consequently, women find it barder to connect with potential investors who understand and appreciate the value of areen innovations. "I used to get nervous whenever I had an opportunity to speak to investors. I think it gets better with exposure and the more you experience them, the better your pitch becomes _ Lillian Muchindu, Founder/CEO Kafue technoarid.

b) Lock of Innoviedge on funding: Women entreprenersa cis tome to how less access to networks and programs where they can access business and financial education with most women focused associations on the continent being focused on social and community development initiatives rather than business. As such there are more a such the such that are available to a such that are available to the available it comes to funding types that are available it more to funding the are verified with different financing needs as well as overall knowledge on sources of funding. c) General Starsectypes and Blass: Gender Investors' perception of women entrepreneurs: stereotypes and on biases con influence and their ventures. Women mys be viewad as having limited business accurent or as billing tass capable of running high-growth, have based of task and application from the second task of task and application from the second making it most based on the challenging for women entrepreneurs: to secure bunding for their green innovations.

d) Lock of Representation: The underepresentation of women in decisionmaking roles within financial institutions and venture capital firms can contribute to the borriers women face in accessing funding. When decision-makers lack diversity, they may overloak or undervalue the potential of women-led green innovation ventures, further exacerbating the funding ago.

e) Risk Averaion and Investor Perceptions: Investors, sepacially traditional ones, may have a higher aversion to risk, which can diffect their willingers to invest in each relating and the second second second second second these ventures are often perceived as risking ender-related binase. As a result, women segmeter-related binase, have result, women pender-related binase, have result, women mestors of the visability and potential returns of their green involution projects.

f) Access to finance: As with many entrepreneurs on the continent, access to finance remains a challenge for areen entrepreneurs too. However, businesses in green sectors might be considered riskier to invest in depending on the type of business and the sub-sectors it works in (Linnanen 2002). Furthermore, traditional financial institutions are often not experienced in investing in innovative green businesses, creating additional challenges especially for women, who tend to struggle anyways with credibility as successful areen entrepreneurs. and access to capital due to lack of collateral (women are not allowed to own land in many African societies for example)

⁶ Working Greenovations report - The Green Innovation ecosystem in Africa

⁷ https://www.aldb.org/fileadmin/uploads/aldb/Documents/ Generic-Documents/We-R Resource Guide - FIN/Lodf

There are however first developments: A number of development financial institutions have introduced investment vehicles targeting green initiatives, and specifically women within, as seen in chapter 5⁰

g) Limited collateral and Assets: Some Inding sources, such as bonk looks, require collateral or assets as security. Women entrepreneurs, praticularly those starting out, may have limited personal assets or may face challinges in accessing property rights, making it handler for them to meet the challing out sources than to explore alternative financing apotons.

h) Mannach of hunding to needs: There is often a mimotic between the funding that is available to women entreprenuus in the green economy to their needs. For exemple, there is generatly less funding available at the earlier tagges of business development as there is less interest from commercial funders in hunding smaller arounds & ddBoard, not at phases of business growth as well as they phases of business growth as well as they availing business models in the sector.

4.3.4 Cultural Barriers

Equity investors for example would prefer to invest in businesses that have exponential growth capability whilst certain businesses in the sector may have a more linear growth a

(i) Access to Networks and Mentors: Networking plays a cnucial role in accessing funding apportunities. Women entrepreneurs, especially these network to the industry, may face challenges in establishing connections with industrial industrial, mentors, and industry experts who can provide galdance and of access to these networks can indust their ability to secure funding for their green invoration vertures.

() Confidence and Pitching Skills: Resourch indicates that wome entrepresenues may exhibit lower levels of confidence in pitching impact their chances of securing funding. Additionally, venture capitalist of their favour entrepreneurs who posses persuative anterpreneurs who posses persuative entrepreneurs and the gender goop in this area entrepreneurs seeking funding for their green innovationa.



Cultural barriers pose significant challenges for women entropreneurs in the green innovations sector. These barriers are deeply rooted in societal norms, beliefs, and expectations, and they can have a profound impact on women's ability to start and grow their ventures.

Here is a detailed analysis of cultural barriers specific to women entrepreneurs in the green innovations sector.

a) Gender keise Expectations: Cultural norms often dictate specific gender noles and responsibilities, which can limit worms? opportunities to pursue entregreneurschaft and, participation in the green involutions status participation in the green involutions status tablem from entering mell-dominated fields such as stachnalogy, engineeting, or ensemble enging. This culture loss can result in imited support and encouragement for worms to support social captor such as the support of encouragement for worms to the support open social.

b) buck of Rela Models: Women's contributions to green entropersentating are often overtobaled or underrepresentation are often overtobale of underrepresentation and the datable and successful women entroperseas. Jack of role models for ougsing women entropersense. The models in the spring women parase entropersentative vertures. The successful of female role models in the sprens succe conpensation of the strength and that are the successful of female role models in the sprens succe control and that and that are the successful of female role models in the sprens action costs of female role models in the sprens action costs of the strength and that are the successful that and that are a studied and antipersensity in the field.

c) Social Stigma and Perception: Cultural barriers can subject women entrepreneurs in the green innovations sector to social stigma and negative perceptions. In some societies, entrepreneurship is still primarily seen as a male pursuit, and women who challenge this norm may face criticism, social pressure, or ostracization. Such stiamatization can be a significant deterrent for women to engage in entrepreneurial activities in the areen sector. In some of the green sectors, women entrepreneurs might struggle with perceptions and acceptance - both of new technologies and approaches, as well as of themselves as entrepreneurs. In some cultural contexts, women might be disrespected if working with waste and sanitation for example. Similarly smart agriculture entrepreneurs struggle with assumptions around agriculture being "dirty" and "for poor and unskilled people".

Overcoming those perceptions and gaining acceptance not only of potential customers, but the community around might cost a lot of time and energy, and prevent many women entreprensurs from pursuing green businesses to all.

d) Access to Networks and Resources: Cultural barriers can limit women access to networks and resources that are cuicial for any control behavior and access the undependent production behavior and access the undependent funding, and gaining industry insights. Netwere, cultural nerms may discourage women from participating in networking business networks, limiting their access to business networks, and other valuable resources.

e) United Access to Education and Trailing: Cultural barriers can contribute to dispatities in educational apportunities for woman in catation accesses. Unequal possess to quality women's callity to acquire the necessary traveledge and stills in the green innovations sector. This look of education and training can create a significant disadvartage for women entrepreneurs, making it harder for them to successful arrow whether.

f) Family and Domestic Responsibilities: Women entrepreneurs often face additional challenges related to balancing family and domestic responsibilities alongside their entrepreneurial pursuits. Cultural expectations regarding women's care giving roles, and responsibilities can place significant burdens on women entrepreneurs, making it more challenging to dedicate sufficient time and energy to their green innovation ventures. These responsibilities can limit their availability for networking, development. and other critical entrepreneurial activities. Women often face unique challenges in balancing work and family responsibilities. These challenges) can be further amplified in the green sector, where new technologies, immature markets, lack of

finance and opportunities, as well as increased need for education, training and testing by entropreneurs demands significant time, effort, and commitment. Inadequate support systems, such as affordable childcare and floxible work arrangements, can limit women's ability to participate tuly in the green sector as entrepreneurs.

g) Risk Aversion and Fear of Failure: Cultural norms and expectations may discourage women from taking risks or embracing entrepreneurial endeavors due to fear of failure. The fear of deviating from societal expectations or the potential consequences of follure can create hesitancy among women entrepreneurs in the green innovations sector. This risk aversion can inhibit their ability to pursue innovative ideas or seek funding for their ventures.

4.3.5 Mindset Barriers



Mindset barriers can significantly impact women entrepreneurs in the green innovations sector, influencing their confidence, decisionmaking, and overall success. These barriers are often deeply ingrained and can be both internal and external and these may include the following:

a) Self-Initing Beliefs: Women entrepreneurs may harbor self-initing beliefs that undermine their confidence and ambibion. These beliefs can inclued doubte about their abilities, fear of failure, or the belief that they are not qualified or experienced enough to succeed in the green innovations sector. Such angeinte soft-program control and the approximation of the sector sector such approximations, or seek funding for their verburse. b) Imposter Syndrome: Imposter syndrome refers to feelings of Inadequays, and selfdoubt, where individuals believe that they are not desavring of their conviewments or fear being exposed as frauds. Wohnen entrepreneus: In the green innovations sector can appendix the green innovations sector in mait-dominated fields, which can undermine that confidence and hinder that in innovation frauds. Which can undermine that confidence and hinder that this involute themps can load as in-babbaga and prevent them from July realizing their entrepreneurit loaden(s).

c) Lack of Confidence in Pitching and Negotiating: Confidence plays a crucial role in pitching ideas, negotiating deals, and securing funding. However, women entrepreneurs may experience lower confidence levels in these areas, which can negatively impact their ability to communicate the value of their green innovations effectively. The fear of being perceived as too aggressive or assertive can deter women from advocating for themselves and their ventures, leading to missed apportunities for funding and growth.

d) Risk Aversion: Women entrepreneurs in the green innovations sector may exhibit a greater aversion to risk compared to their male counterparts. Risk aversion can stem from societal conditioning or cultural expectations that discourage women from taking risks or stepping outside their comfort zones. This mindset barrier can prevent women entrepreneurs from pursuing ambitious and innovative ideas, limiting their ability to attract investors or secure funding for their ventures. Further, as most market seaments of the areen sectors are relatively young and emerging, the products and services developed within are often innovations that have not been tested or marketed in the African context before. While new technologies and innovative solutions can open up untapped markets, there is also a high risk of failure. If there is a lack of comparable products, services, and business models, success is hard to predict. This is even more true for the context of many African countries. where economic, political and financial conditions might change rapidly. Green sector entrepreneurs face a variety of risks along the whole business journey and value chain - from product development and sourcing, to market and capital access - most success parameters are fluctuating, or simply unknown. This might make women, who are often more risk averse as well as more vulnerable to risk than men, shy away from green sector entrepreneurship.

e) Lock of Resilience and Persistence: The entrepreneural journey is often frought with challenges, satbacks, and failures. Women entrepreneurs may foce additional pressures due to societad expectations or cultural norms, making it hander for them to bounce book from failures or satbacks. A look of resilience and chatcacks, kern hon failures, and persevere in the foce of adversity, thready impeding their progress in the green innovations sector. f) Underestimation of Value and Impact: Women entrepreneurs may downplay the value and impact of their green innovation ventures due to modesty or societal conditioning. This mindset barrier can result in a lack of assertiveness when seeking funding or negotiating partnerships. Women entrepreneurs may undervalue their leading opportunities for growth and financial support. Additionally, because women tend to be more collaborative and community driven in their approaches to entrepreneurship. competitions, pitching dens, demo days etc. tend to be both less attractive and accessible for them. Statistics show that women have a stronger inclination to "make a difference in the world", whereas men focus their business goals more around wealth creation (GEM Women's Entrepreneurship Report 2022). Along the same lines, many entrepreneurs in areen sectors might not only be driven by filling a market gap or "making it" as an entrepreneur, but also have a passion for sustainability and environmental topics. Many women entrepreneurs in the green sector have for example to some extent incorporated a social enterprise model in their business (add raw data source Nambula) While this can be a great motivator that helps overcome challenges and low points in the start-up journey, there is also the risk in this: If environmental sustainability is a (too) important factor in decision making, entrepreneurs might janore market realities. de-prioritise profitability, or hesitate to change their model based on financial and business considerations¹

g) Limited Access to Menters and Role Models Mindst brints can be perturbed by the obsence of mentors and role models who can inspire and guide women entrepreneurs in the green innovations sector. Without relatione examples a lackeds and trabibacems. The lack of mentoship and role profession differences and example and and professional development, cartholizing to mindset barriers such as self-doubt and a limited before in their capabilities.



4.3.6 Policy and Institutional Barriers



Policy and institutional barriers faced by women entropreneus in Africa in the green innovation sector can significantly impede their ability to start and grow their ventures. These barriers are often noted in systemic challenges and require targeted interventions to promote grende equality and support institutional barriers specific on woman entropreneurs in Africo's green innovation sector include

a) Limited Access to Finance: Women entrepreneurs in Africa face significant challenges in accessing finance for their green innovation ventures. Financial institutions may have stringent collateral requirements, high interest rates, or limited knowledge about the potential of green businesses. Additionally, women may have limited awareness of available financial resources, policies or lack the necessary financial literacy to naviaate the funding landscape. Addressing this barrier requires developing financial products and mechanisms that specifically target women entrepreneurs, providing financial education and training, and promoting genderresponsive lending practices.

b) Legal and Regulatory Constraints: Women entrepreneurs often encounter legal and regulatory constraints that hinder their ability to operate and grow their green innovation businesses. These constraints may include complex business registration processes, discriminatory property rights, and restrictives licensing requirements. Governments need to review and reform regulations to create an enabling environment that simplifies business registration, ensures equal property rights, intellectual property and facilitates access to necessary enruits and licenses.

c) Legal of dender-Responsive Policies and obsence of generative-responsive policies and statetigies in the green innovation sector can perpetuate inequalities and hinder women's entrepreneurship. Governments need to develop policies and programs that specifically address the needs and challenges incode by women entrepreneurs? This includes creating gender-specific targets for funding discostion, establishing mentaching and tradition programs, and permoting gender tradition support.

a) Limited institutional Support and Copacity Building: Women entrepreneurs often lock access to supportive institutions, such as business development centers, incubators, and innovation hubs, that provide mentarhip, training technology transfer mechanisms and networking opportunities. This is heightened for women entrepreneurs building solutions in the green economy in rural areas such infrastructure is other limited to urban areas.

to Againvair, al. (2010). Genders and Linean Golesmanoc. Inte-Political Economy of Women's Presence Within and Boyond Community Forestry. Oxford Development. Studies, 38(1), 25–40. Fruther, there is a general lack of quality across the boost in many existing hubs particularly when it comes to technical skills required to support the green sector. Lashy, because hub business models are performed in the sector funding, they do not diverge meet the needs of the performance of the sector funding and the performance of the sector funding models linked to the commercial success of the entrepreneurs.

Establishing and strengthening such institutions can facilitate capacity building for women entrepreneurs, foster knowledge exchange, and promote collaboration and innovation in the green innovation sector.

e) Gender Bias and Streeotypes: Gender bias and stereotypes con influence the perception and reactiment of women entrepreneurs in the gener sector. Biased antitudes may lead to a gener sector. Biased antitudes may lead to and resources, and lower confidence in the oblities of women entrepreneurs. Governments and institutions need to actively potrayols of women in entrepreneurship, and potratoryla of women in entrepreneurship, and strenctvoes and biases. Promote to address strenctvoes and biases.

f) Limited Representation in Decklon-Making Processes: The underrepresentation of women in key decision-making bodies and institutions within the green innovation sector can hinder their ability to influence policies and shape the sector's development. Efforts should be made to promete gender diversity and inclusion in decision-making processes, including the appointment of women to relevant advisory boards and committees.

g) Lack of Data and Research: Insufficient data and research on women entrepreneurs in the green innovation sector in Africa can hinder evidence-based policy development and decision-making. Governments and institutions should invest in comprehensive data collection and research initiatives that specifically focus on women entrepreneurs; their challenges, and their contributions to the green sector. h) Public-private intersections and pressure to scale: While there is a sizable potential market and strong opportunity for growth within Africa's renewable energy, water and waste management sectors it is important to note that many businesses within these are and will have to be infrastructure projects. This is because energy, water and waste disposal are considered basic human needs that in many cases are answered through the setup of permanent infrastructure such as arid lines. pipes and logistic systems. Business models and products in these sectors often substitute or compete with public infrastructure, and have to grow rapidly and operate at scale in order to be successful. Rapid growth requires robust supply of management, technical expertise and investment. At the same time, scaling infrastructure in rural and remote areas, as well as maintaining and managing dispersed infrastructure - be it water pipes solar batteries or small scale waste plants over time can be costly and challenging (World Bank: Performance of Water Utilities in Africa). These conditions make it difficult for entrepreneurs to arow and succeed in some renewable energy, waste and water market segments.11

Furthermore, as entrepreneurs create foundational infrastructure for countries, they are subject to major influence of the governments that regulate Governmental support and partnerships can provide stability and market access (Ande Green Entrepreneurship in Kenva Snapshot. 2023), but can also make businesses dependent on political actors and changes This can cause considerable impact on the entrepreneurs setting up businesses especially in unstable or intransparent political settings. While policies, subsidies, investment conditions and even price points might change rapidly, it is difficult for private start-ups to adjust to these changes while still struggling for scale and profitability. An example is the electricity price in off-arid solar systems that always has to compete with the price in (subsidized) anyemmental arid systems.

¹¹ Http://andeglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/ANDE_Ecos

i) Disjointed Agendas of Policy Makers: Lastly, there is often a disjoint in agendas of policy makers and development institutions and a lack of clarity of their role in the larger picture of developing the green sector. This can often be in conflict with local and community needs and efforts as well as local government focus areas. This could result in women being unwilling to participate in these agendas as they are often the custodians of initiatives at community levels.

4.4 Key Insights

Women entreprensus in the green innovations sector are at the forefort of driving patible internals instational binatises. However, despite their immense patientisk, they focas runnersus challenges that impacts their parges in this contrast, it is crucial to understand and address the patient of the sector of the patient of the sector of the inclusive cosystem that empowers women entreprensus and homessate their innovation facility of the sector of the local of the sector of the local of the sector of the local of the sector of the local of the sector of the local of the sector of the local of the sector of the local of the sector of the local of the sector of the local of the sector of the se

> Lifficulty necessing motistic is a major barrier locad by women entregeneous: In the green involutions safetr which is deministen by estimate and streeduptes, difficulty in achieving product motest it, similar mainte procument processes. When it comes to access to information, women entregrements of the strength of the strength of the strength green involution women. The strength of the strength of the based length practices, and a lock of investment of popularities. Additionally, based and visibility of the ventures of vicibility of the ventures.

> Similarly, building protessional networks is circular for business success, but wome entreprenous may face difficulties in accessing supportive networks. Main-dominated networks, gender bases, and limited opportunities for networking and metantarbia can pass obtaches for women setting to grow their businesses. Cuburd norms and sociatid expectations can data credet additional ability of the generation of the grave invariants satch. Brander decision-making authority, and affect their credibility in main-dominated industries.

	03	We also learnt that mindset and lack of confidence could equally have a negative impact on how women entrepreneurs in the green sector start and build their business from startup to scale up. Few incubators and accelerators and accelerators are a second accelerators.		
		and example to toolbarker power what if who had not and guard to a thread, which is confidence amount how they do business, it thanks to underwise their ball of the their own califies, leading to self-cload to and exact cone to take raiss, Building confidence and overcoming impossing random error cuical for women entrepreneurs to succeed in the green involutions sector and given the low number of women dis businesses that workure and succeed, it is critical to have more template rule businesses that workure and succeed, it is critical to have more template rule businesses that workure and succeed, it is critical to have more template rule businesses.		
	04	With regards to policy and regulation the observe of gender-independence and regulations can turble inder worner entropeneurs in the green innovations sector. Policies that address gender inequality provide support for worner-owned businesses, and promote inclusive procurement proceedies can create a more conducive environment for worner entropreneurs to thrive.		
	05	Lastly, access to quality education and skills is essential for women entreprensure to develop the necessary skills and throwledge in the green hinder women's ability to innevate, adapt to market demands, and compete effectively.		

Addressing these challenges requires a multifaceted approach involving various stateholders, including governments, businesses, linvestors, and support organizations. Promoting gender equality, providing targeted financial and business support, fastering inclusive networks, and implementing gender-responsive policies can help overcome these barriers and create a more outable and inclusive environment for women entercenerus in the areen innovations sector.

- 3

э

Existing mechanisms and practices to support women entrepreneurs in the green sectors in Africa



In Africa, several support mechanisms exist to promote and nurture women's green innovation and entrepreneurship activities. These initiatives aim to empower women and address the gender gap in this critical sustainable development sector. A recent report by ANDE (2023) highlighted that over half of organizations supporting green entrepreneurship are headquartered in Kenva (51%), with 43% being headquartered in Europe and the United States cumulatively; and only 3% in other African nations. Collectively however, this places Africa as a leader in this space. Intriguinaly, whilst there appears to be several such initiatives focused on women entrepreneurs in areas such as clean energy, reforestation and sustainable agriculture. There remains gaps in women specific initiatives in areas such as water and sanitation, green infrastructure and the blue economy. In spite of these gaps, the research revealed that opportunities for channelling active women engagement in green entrepreneurship exist in 6 key areas as follows:

L Capacity Building and Training: Many organizations provide copacity-building programs and training specifically designed for women in green entrepreneurship. These programs offer business development allis, technical knowledge, and mentarship, enabling women to enhance their entreprensurial capabilities and successfully novigate the green sector.

IL Networking and Colleboration: Networking events, conferences, and platforms connect women entrepreneurs; with mentors, industry expert, potential investors, and other like-minded individuals. These networking opportunities facilitate travokledge exchange, collaboration, and the formation of pantnerships, which can further support women's engagement and growth in green entroprenumbin.

III. Access to Finance: Various funding opportunities, grants, and investment programs are available to support women entropreneurs in the green sector. These include government grants, impact investing funds, angel investors and venture capital firms focused on sustainability, and crowdtanding olaforms. These financial resources can help women start and scale their green businesses.

Iv. Access to Market: Access to market doubles plays a cualid rate in Achamelling more women into green innovation in Africa by peoviding opportunities for women their networks, and explose montet potential brees activities contribute to the growth and success of women-led green businesses forme key opportunities in access to market activities for women in green innovation in Africa include market linkages, immentional monte plays potentials and the succession and their plays potentials and the succession to any opportunities of the succession and business intellingence.

v. Nelly support: Whist most Small business on startup dots cross the continent or either silent on green sector specific thereares and support of sources of women's involvement in the green economy. Supportive policies and instances and business of women's involvement in the green economy. Supportive policies and instances are baing deviced to promote greater and sources of women's involvement in the green economy. Supportive policies and instances are baing deviced to promote greater equality, remove barries, and provide in green extractional policies in green extractions.

vi. Research and development: Climate change has been noted to have a compared to the second second second compared second second second second compared second s

This section will examine the mechanisms and practices that exist at the different stages of business development for woman entrepreneurs in the sector citing some examples of programs under the various support organizations.

5.1 Mechanisms and Practices to Support Women Entrepreneurs in the Business Formation Stage

5.1.1 Support from Development Organizations

Development organizations play a crucial role in supporting women entrepreneurs in the business formation stage in the green sector. They provide various resources, programs, and initiatives tailared to address the specific needs and challenges faced by women at the beginning of their entrepreneurical journey.

Example: The United Nations Development Programme (UNDP, 2022) offers capacity-building programs to equip women entrepreneurs with essential skills and knowledge in areas such as business management, finance, marketing, and sustainable practices (UNDP, 2022).

These development organizations also provide financial support through grants, startup loans, and microfinance programs designed for women entrepreneurs (UNDP, 2015).

5.1.2 Support from Development Funders :

Funders, such as impact investors, angel investors and venture capitalists, and daness contribute to the support ecosystem for women entrepreneurs in the business formation stage. They offer financial resources, mentorship, and/kompik: The Empress Niot fund (Shel Foundation, 2022) was a pilot fund managed by Africa Trust Group and established to Frample: The Empress Pilot Fund (Shell Foundation, 2022) was a pilot fund managed by Africa Trust Group and established to provide pre-seed funding to women entrepreneurs in the Green sector in East and Southern Africa unitilising innovative financing instruments. This pilot fund was raised through investments from African angel investors on the continent and in the diaspora the Shell Foundation (UK) and; the Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO)

Whilst such Angel and VC funds like the Empress Pilot Fund enable women entrepreneurs in the sector through the formation and validation phases, there remains need for further funding that is sector specific and women focused in the scale and arowth phases. A key learning from the Empress pilot fund was that many fund of funds perceive the intersection of gender and climate as high risk particularly because many green sector businesses may be located in rural areas with little support mechanisms. And thus in spite of return and impact being created at these early stages. there remains limited sector and gender specific funding support upstream. Additionally, donors such as Shell Foundation through collaborations like the example above or directly in their own capacity tend to play a crucial role in shaping the gaenda. as they have the power to influence and prioritise specific areas of focus within the green sector such as clean energy (Shell Foundation, 2019). This then plays an important role in which sectors within the economy get interest and funding from them as they are key funders particularly in the

early stages of business development when commercial viability is not yet established and businesses are less attractive to commercial funders.

5.1.3 Support from Academia

Academic institutions contribute to supporting wome entrepreneurs in the business formation stage by offering educational programs, research opportunities, and entrepreneurship resources. They develop specialized courses, workshops, and certificate programs to equip women entrepreneurs with the knowledge and skills required to start and manage green businesses successfully.

Example: The Gender for Energy Security (GENS) is a Stellenbosch University Tier 1 Africo-UK Trilateral Research Chair, in collaboration with Brunel University London and University of Nairobi to build research capacity and produce knowledge across Africa concerning genderinformed. innovation and commercialisation opportunities in alternative energy technology and services (GENS, 2021). They also run multi-stakebolder workshops to disseminate case study finding and contribute to policy development

Academic institutions also run business incubation centers that provide infrastructure, mentoring, technical expertise in sector-specific areas and access to research facilities to help women entrepreneurs refine their business ideas and validate their concepts. Such facilities have been critical in building expertise in the space and creating an intersection for academia to intersect with practice and create leverage.

5.1.4 Support from Accelerators and Incubators

Hubs in the form of both accelerators and incubators play a significant role in supporting women entrepreneurs in the business formation stage as there tends to be overlaps in their reach. These play a particularly key role in supporting green businesses focused on technology-driven green innovations. They provide co-working green intervations. They provide co-working blaboratories, prototyping facilities, highspeed intervet, and a calaborative environment for wornen entrepreneurs (World Bionk, 2019). These reacourses help access the neodescrip infrastructure to develop and text their green innovations.

Accelerators and incubators also organize training programs, mentorship initiatives, and provide access to specialized resources such as laboratories and prototyping tools.

Example: The future females tech hub

(Future femdles, 2022) whilet virtual, provides a 12 week accelerator that supports female entrepreneurs, with a core focus on those in the green economy. The aim of the program is to increase the number of and support the success of female entrepreneurs in the sector.

Accelerator and incubator programs include guidance on business planning, market research, product development, and financial management. The aim is to halp the entrepreneurs to refine their business models, develop viable products or services, and retrate sustainable business strategies.

Lastly, accelerators and incubators also lend credibility and legitimacy to the entrapreneurs especially where they themselves have a good reputation (Entrepreneur India, 2018). This creates significant volue as it increases the entrapreneurs ability to access key networks where they can find ac-founders and key hires, strategic partners and clients, as well as accessing fundima.

5.1.5 Support from Policy Makers

Policy makers are meant to create an enabling environment for entrepreneurs to thrive. An analysis of 21 Artican Small business and Startur Acts, however, revealed that only 35% of the acts had womenspecific Interventions in spite of an women foce in entrepreneurship (Invovation for Folicy Foundation, 2022). Additionally, most remain slient on green sector specific interventions.

In spite of these gaps in Startup acts, policy makers are increasingly starting to design and implement stand alone supportive policies and initiatives that address the specific challenges faced by women entrepreneurs in the green sector and provide financial incentives such as tax breaks or grants to such businesses and/or financial institutions that support them (United Nations Economic Commission for Africa 2020) Policy makers also collaborate with development organizations funders academia, accelerators and incubators, and other stakeholders to ensure a coordinated approach to supporting women entrepreneurs.

Example:

The Zambian government through a multi-stakeholer project involving government, development society developed a Climate Change Adaptation Policy that locked to incertifying private sectors incertifying private sectors are also a sector of the sector (SWP, 2021).

Through this kind of conventing power, policy makes reales apportunities for networking and collaboration among entrepreneurs; history experts, investors, and other portunatings, further, these networks can be valuable for accessing resources, market histights, and more business apportunities (astly, policy marks have been noted to create curricula and learning matterials support organisations such as habs and non-povermentarial cognitions (suc, 2004).

5.2 Mechanisms and Practices to Support Women Entrepreneurs in the Business Validation Stage

5.2.1 Support from Development Organisations

Development organizations continue to provide support to women entrepreneurs in the business validation stage in the groen sector. They offer targeted assistance to help women entrepreneurs refine their business models, validate their products or services, and prepare for market entry. This also includes initiations that offer funding during the validation phase in forms of grants and/or loans.

Example:

The Africa Development Bonk through its Africa Adoptation Acceleration Program (AAAP) portnered with the Africa Climate Change Fund to low.nct the change Fund to low.nct any portner and youth in gene sector entrepreneurship to advance Innovative, transformative advance advance



5.2.2 Support from Funders

Funders play a critical role in supporting women entropreneurs in the business validation stoge by providing financial resources, mentorship, and strategic guidance to help women entrepreneurs roline their business models, validate their products or services, and prepare for market entry.

Example:

The Green Ploneer Accelerator program supported by funders including the Climate Investment Funds and the United Notions Development Programme, focuses on supporting early-stage entrepreneurs in developing countries, working on innovative climate solutions. The program provides a comprehensive package of support. including access to funding, mentorship, technical expertise, and networking opportunities. Through the program, women entrepreneurs in the green sector receive financial support in the form of seed funding or grants to validate their business ideas, develop prototypes and conduct market testing The funding helps cover the costs associated with product development market research, and early-stage operations (Impact Amplifier, 2015).

Additionally, funders offer investment readiness programs to help women entropreneurs develop their pitch decks and business plans (European investment Bank, 2021) as well as provide access to networks and connect women entrepreneurs with potential investors and partners (UNCDF, 2021).

5.2.3 Support from Academia

Academic Institutions continue to support women entrepreneurs in the business validation stage by offering resources, expertise, and access to networks. They develop business validation programs and research collaborations that assist women entrepreneurs in refining their business models and assessing the market feasibility of their women.

Example:

Statimore University in Kenya offers training programs and workshops specifically designed to empower woman in the green sector. This Includes woman (Strathmare Linkwesth, 2023) and Gender Equality and Social Inclusion (GES) in the Inergy Sector (Strathmore University, 2023). These programs assist the different stateholders including the woman entropressure in the sector to date-arthwen plans to increase access to clean energy.

Academic institutions also leverage alumni networks to provide mentorship and networking opportunities for women entrepreneurs (Chaminade & Peneder, 2017).

5.2.4 Support from Accelerators and Incubators

Accelerators and Incubators continue to support women entrepreneurs in the business validation stoge, particularly those focused on technology-driven green innovations. They after validation programs, product iterations support, and access to investor networks. Accelerators and incubators provide assistances in refining boned on user feedback and market

Example: Enrich in Africa through its partner incubators and accelerators across the African continent launched the Green Economy Start-up project for innovators, entrepreneurs, start-ups or SMEs working to achieve SDG 12 & SDG 13. The program provided promising start-ups with an opportunity to participate in a four-month programme to support them to the next level of growth through advancing their business skills, providing expert advice. and nourishing potential investor relationships. The Start-ups had to be 50% owned by women (Enrich in Africa. 2022).

These hubs also facilitate connections with potential investors and organize pilch events for women entrepreneurs to attract investment (World Bank Group, 2018). Others, such as the Gindstone X accelerator, even provide funding themselves to entrepreneurs at this stage as the businesse have some proven commercial viability at this stage (Ventureburn, 2023).

5.2.5 Support from Policy Makers

Policy makers continue to support women entrepreneurs in the business validation stage by creating an enabling policy environment. They establish regulatory support mechanisms and funding programs that facilitate validation and testing of green innovations (105, 2020).

Example:

The Subh African government through a collaborative process between the Department of Tracks Industry and Wornen, Youkh and Persons with Disobilities released a report on the Timpowerment of Wornen in Green Industry Policy Assessment'in 2021 It was timpower and the Wornen in Green Industry Policy Assessment'in 12021 It was industry Policy Assessment's collaborative policy and Implementation formework for increasing Wornen's leadership and participation in the green industry and participation in the green industry and (price, 2021).

Policy makers also promote collaboration and knowledge sharing among women entrepreneurs, industry experts, and research institutions (African Union Commission, 2019).

5.3 Mechanisms and Practices to Support Women Entrepreneurs in the Business Growth Stage

5.3.1 Support from Development Organizations

Development organizations continue to provide tailored resources, programs, and inlitatives that assist women entrepreneurs in scaling up their businesses in the growth stage. This includes programs that enable them to expand their markets and access new opportunities as well as catalytic funding (51 Mricc, 2022).

Example: The Africa Development Bank through the Africa Climate Change Fund runs a cell for proposits called Gender Equality and Climate Change, where scale stage businesses can apply for funding as it aims to triple climate timancing efforts and foster a climate-resilient Africa. Since inception, a total of \$15m+ has been invested in the form of grants (AND, 5022).

Development organizations also facilitate market access and trade facilitation through intermediaries thus, connecting women entrepreneurs with potential buyers, distributors, and international markets (UNDP, 2017).

5.3.2 Support from Funders

Funders play a crucial role in supporting women entrepreneurs in the business growth stage by providing financial resources, mentorship, and strategic guidance. They ofter growth capital in form of grants, venture capital physical equity and / or traditional loans to women entrepreneurs to support their expansion plans. Example: ShEquity's purpose is to provide smart and sustainable investments into African female entrepreneurs and innovators as well as the operational support needed to unlock their full potential. This support enables more female-reld builnesses to grow, create more jobs, embark on soling paths, and contribute to sustainable development (ShEauty 2020).

Funders also facilitate access to networks and connect women entreprensurs with potential investors, strategic partners, and industry experts.

5.3.3 Support from Academia

Academic institutions continue to businesses in the green sector through their growth stage by offering resources, expertise, and access to networks. Whilst not specifically tailored to women entrepreneurs, Universities develop executive education programs focusing an leadership development, strategic planning, and financial management which are key for scaling as well as sector specific education.

Example: BA Isage: University in Bostwana laurched the first ever Climate Change and Entrepreneurship Centre on the 20th of October 2022. The eim of the centre is to do research and training that enhances the University research autput through workshops and short courses to stimulate professional development on Climate Change (BA Isaga, 2022).



Academic Institutions of too engage in research collaborations to provide insights, analysis, and recommendators such as climate for greath in key actions such as climate for exemption of the second second second second exemption of the second second second second exemption of the second second second second termswork for climate action to transform business schools on and match the needs to the resilies of the African contenter. The the resilies of the African contenter. The the resilies of the universite from concess and the second (second second second second second second second (second second secon

5.3.4 Support from Accelerators and Incubators

There is a growing number of Accelerators and Incubates focused on scaling green sector businesses at the growth stage. Whilst not gender specific, these programs provide access to tailor mode support to enable the businesses to scale including entrepreneurship education, access to investor networks of venture capitalists, angel investors, and impact Investors.

Example:

The ASAP project by Village Capital aims to build a global ecosystem for small- to medium-sized companies in emerging markets and services geared towards climate adaptation and building resilience to the impacts of climate change (Village Capital, 2022).

Accelerators and incubators also offer programs that provide resources, mentorship from industry experts, investors, and ecosystem partners and enable entropreneurs to access the tools they need to attract investment and grow their businesses and impact (Village Capital 2022)

5.3.5 Support from Policy Makers

Policy makers across the continent have been driving towards specific gender interventions within the green sector specially where climate adaptation is involved. Policy interventions are meant to address the intersection and gender and race and ensure that women entrepreneurs survive the startup phases and get into the business growth stoge by creating an enabling policy environment.

Example: In March 2022, African countries adopted a common African position to integrate gender into the climate change action agenda. The All alms to enhance continental responses by better addressing the intersectional impacts of climate change, gender and migration (85, 2023).

Additionally, there are efforts to establish policies that procurement for women entrepreneurs. Policy makers also provide regulatory augort, such as streamlining regulators and reducing administrative burdens, to facilitate buriness growth in key sectors such as climate, albeit not gender specific.

5.4 Key Insights

Several support mechanisms exist in Africa to promote women entropreneurs in the green sector, aiming to empower women and address the gender gap. The folking keys insights highlight the diverse support mechanisms and practices available to support women entropreneurs in the green sectors in Africa, aiming to overcome barriers and practice their participation in the green excancery and sustainable development overal.

01	While there are initialities focused on women entropenetral in orace lie alean nerry, indivation and subschole agriculture, there are gopt in women- specific initiatives in areas such as water and sonitation, green infrastructure, and the blue economy.
02	Six tay areas provide opportunities for active women engagement in green entrepreneursing copacity building and training, networking and collaboration, access to limense, access to market, policy support, and research and development.
03	Mechanisms and practices to support women entrepreneurs exist at varying stages of business development and include support from development organisation, development, academia, accelerators and incubators, and policy makers.
04	Needing-ward organizations provide resource, program, and francois apport to record, spatial text from Indials gain data, to average any strate provide any strategies of support of apportations that will with them. Fundes that francois resources the support of apportations and will be the support of apportations of the support of apportations and strategies and strategies and strategies and support apportations and strategies and strateg
05	While there are mechanisms and funding programs that specifically target women entrepreneurs in the earlier stages of business formation and validation, there is often a lack of disaggregated funding support for women in the later stages of business growth.

Opportunities and Synergies



Afface holds immerse potential to lead in the development of the green sector emprensarily, with a nodebia advanced actional in pace carriers, on impression site and based in Marca (MARC, 2023). This presents a read opportunity for the continent to scatt Real or Advanced to the sector of the sector of the sector of the continent to scatt Real or Advanced to the sector of the sector in the sector for the sector of the sector. The sector for the sector of the se

6.1 Funding

When it comes to funding, there are 4 core opportunity areas where funders, policy makers and civil society in the form of philanthropic organisations can participate:

6.1.1 Pre-seed financing

Women entrepreneurs in the green sector in Africa can be better supported in accessing pre-seed financing for the formation to validation stages of their businesses through targeted programs and initiatives. This can involve establishing funds specifically dedicated to supporting women-led areen startups, providing more accessible type of funding such as grants, and offering lowinterest logns. These would provide women entrepreneurs with the confidence and opportunity to test out their ideas, build prototypes and experiment with the indigenous knowledge they have on more commercially viable scales. It could also involve collaborations that embed pre-seed funding from existing funds within organisations already working with green women entrepreneurs which may help to reduce fund management overheads while levergaing existing mechanisms, pipeline and familiarity and access with and to entreprepeurs

6.1.2 Pre-seed financing

There is an increasing case for enabling more innovative financing mechanisms tailored to the needs of women entrepreneurs in the green sector in Africa (Shell Foundation, 2023). This could include the use of more revenue based financing instruments that take inter consideration the entrepreneurs such as lack of collateral as well business contexts such seasonality of some of the business models that are present in the sector. Additionally there are opportunities in utilising crowdfunding platforms such as Africa Venture Philanthropy Alliance that promote venture philanthropy and have a platform for gender-lens investing (AVPA, 2023) to showcase women-led areen ventures for funding. Lastly, there are opportunities for promotion collaboration between financial institutions. NGOs. philanthropic organisations and government agencies that can facilitate for the development of these

unique cultural context of women

Innovative financing models such as the partnership between Shell Foundation, FCDO and Africa Trust Group that allowed for the creation and testing of innovative financing instruments in the arry stage women-led ventures in the green economy (Ventureburn, 2021).

6.1.3 Sector and women-specific funding for business growth

There is a unique opportunity for establishing venture capital and private equity funds at the intersection of gender and race to invest in women entrepreneurs in the scaling and arowth stages of business where there is less segmentation by gender for both funding and programmatic support. This is a potential opportunity for impact investment funds that may already be either funding with a gender lens or a climate lens to consider the benefits and return potential at the intersection. At a higher level, there is additional apportunity for considering the role that gender and climate bonds could play in stimulating investments into such funds to enable their establishment

6.1.4 Creative incentives for investing into the sector

Incentives are crucial for driving investment into the green sector. They stimulate economic growth, job creation, and innovation by attracting investments from the private sector into the space as they help to mitlaate risks (perceived and real).

promote market competitiveness, foster research and innovation, and align investments with green and sustainability goals. These can include things such as guarantee funds from both governments and local and regional development finance institutes that encourage private funders to gram. by ARDB (AEB, 2022), by Offering gram. by ARDB (AEB, 2022), by Offering internaction of gender and the green economy, governments can accelerate the transition to a genere and more suitainable future white enabling and ensuing the equal participation of wome entreprenerus.

6.2 Capacity development

When it comes to capacity development for women entrepreneurs in the green sector, there are again 3 core areas of opportunity highlighted below:

6.2.1 Capacity development in areas of the green sector which have received less focus

Enhancing capacity building and academic educational opportunities for women entrepreneurs in sectors like water, building is essential in order to widan participation of women entrepreneurs in the green sector. This can involve organising workshops, training sessions, and entrepreneursity programs that equip women with the necessary skills and sen less fouce. Sector sectors that have

6.2.2 Funding specific capacity development

Enhancing capacity building and academic educational opportunities for women entrepreneurs in sectors like water, sontation, and tyggene (WAB) and green participation of women entrepreneurs in the green sector. This can involve organising workshops, training sessions, and entrepreneursity programs that equip women with the necessary akits and sent less factures that have

6.2.3 Flexible or hybrid training programs

It is important for the designers of capacity building programs such as accelerators and incubators to take into consideration the unique cultural contexts facing women entrepreneurs in Africa such as the fact that women are still considered the primary carealvers of families. As such, ensuring that such programs have some level of flexibility in how they are delivered as well as time of completion becomes key Additionally with increased access to technology via mobile phones, ensuring that delivery can incorporate hybrid options that incorporate both in person attendance for those that can attend in person and with dialtal access for those that may not be able to, will as a long way to widening adoption by women entrenreneurs

6.2.4 Training of supporting actors in the sector

The training of enabling and support actors such as government officials, tubs, and academics on the needs of the green sector in Arrica, particularly women within it, is of utmost importance. This would enable a more coordinated support environment that takes into consideration the differing needs in the sector. By providing targeted training, the sector and the interval of the sector interval of the sector of the providing targeted training of a specific environment, and actor of second required for the advancement of women entrepreneurs in the green sector. It would also equip them with the incovidage and tools to develop effective policies, initiatives, and programs that address the unique needs of women entrepreneurs in the green sector, fostering an inclusive and supportive environment for their success. Much effort is put into supporting 5000 specifically to enhance their gender inclusivity in sourcing, programming and providing access to finance to entrepreneurse. A number of valuable toolkits and guides have been developed, providing specific tips, templates and ToDos for incubators and accelerators to better serve woman. Examples for green sactor specific toolitis are the Climate KIC WeClim Equally Gender Smart Handbook² os well as USAIU Workbook for Clean Energy Incubators on Gender Inclusive Recruitment and Selection².

6.3 Role modeling to stimulate culture shifts

The media plays a vital role in shaping perceptions and can contribute to a culture shift that supports women entrepreneurs in the green sector. Highlighting success stories and achievements of women in the green sector through media platforms can inspire others and challenge stereotypes. Additionally, promoting role models and organising networking events that bring together successful women entrepreneurs and aspiring green leaders can help foster a supportive ecosystem and encourage more women to enter the sector.

10 Minu/Jawa dirute to analysis context (among/2022/28/htt Circuite CC IIIsCity Tayaty Sender Triat Handbook reducedoil

+3 https://www.chrutetras.org/steal/adust/heu/poset/accurrent/201 UEED-NED-Protect Recrythrent-Customer Cast



6.4 Key Insights

01	Africe has the potentiat to lead in the development of the green sector and promote gender equality within 1. The continuent droady houses a significant number of entrepreneur, support organizations diadicated to nurturing green sector entrepreneur, presenting an opportunity for Africa to assert itelf as a global leader in environmentally conscious and sustainable business practices.
02	Capacity development for women entrepresents in the grean economy that improved through the increases in thoose in neuros of the grean economy that have received less attention such as voter and sanitations, technical assistance taking that includes roughter benchast salts, and a site framework taking that includes roughter benchast salts, and a site framework taking that includes roughter benchast salts, and a site framework taking that includes roughter benchast salts are well as the framework taking that includes roughter benchast salts are training of support actors such as government afficials and hubs.
03	Lurding opportunities for women entragramment in the grann sector can be enhanced chrough stratogias such intercedar pre-sector formeding to support the formation and violation stopps; creation of more innovative financing mechanisms betraulted the contact and cultures of women in the sector sector and women specific funding for the business growth stopps; and providens of increatives for princise sector involvement in the lunding of the intersection of gender and climote.
04	Highlighting success stories of women in the green sector through media plattims, promoting role models, and organising networking events that normalize women's participation in the green economy can contribute to a culture shift that supports and inspires more women to enter the sector.



Conclusion and Recommendations



7.1 Conclusion

The green sector is a critical sector for sustainable development and women entreprepeurs play a vital role in driving its growth. This report has shed light on the status and challenges surrounding women's inclusion in the green innovation ecosystems as well as the existing support organizations and mechanisms. By examining these aspects, we have gained valuable insights into the opportunities that can help increase women's participation at various levels of the ecosystems and have provided recommendations for moving forward on key areas affecting women in the sector. Our ultimate goal is to contribute to the overall inclusion of women in the green innovation and entrepreneurship sectors across Africa

By ensuing that women entrepreneurs are catively involved in the green innovations ecosystem, we can unlock a multitude of positive outcomes and potential developments. Firstly, their inclusion can lead to greater develop of perspectives and leads, fostening innovation and creativity within the sepretences that can contribute to more comprehensive and sustainable solutions to environment of heatingas.

Furthermore, when women are empowered and provided with equal opportunities in the green innovation eccesystem, it has a ripple effect on society or whele. Women become role models and inspirations for future generations, encouraging more women to pursue convers in the field. This not conjugenerations, encouraging induce inhancing the sector's ability to tockle complex environment losses.

To achieve these positive outcomes, the report has put forward several recommendations and strategies to enhance women's participation and impact in the green innovations ecosystem. These include: Promoting access to education and training: Investing in educational initiatives that specifically target women in green innovation can equip them with the necessary skills and knowledge to thrive in the sector. This includes technical training, business development programs, and mentorship opportunities.

Fostering supportive networks and collaborations: Creating networks and platforms that facilitate connections between women entropreneurs, investers, and industry exports can foster collaboration, knowledge sharing, and access to resources. This can help women overcome the barriers they may face and provide them with the support needed to succeed.

Addressing funding and investment agos: Increasing access to capital is crucial for women entrepreneurs in the green innovation ecosystem. Governments, development organizations, and private investors develop should mechanisms and programs that specifically target women-led ventures and provide them with adequate funding opportunities.

Promoting policy and institutional changes Advacenting for policies that promote gender equality and inclusivity within the green innovation ecosystem is essential. This includes removing legal and regulatory borriers, promoting gender-responsive procurement practices, and encouraging gender-balanced representation in decision-moting bodies.

7.2 Recommendations

Recommendations	Target Helix actor(s)	Business stage
Access to Finance		
Addressing barriers of funding regulars o multifaceted opproach that involves volucus takeholders. Lacourging diversity in investor networks and decision-malary rotes, promoting gender-inclusive publicle, providing targeted mentorship and networking opportunities, and offening financial education and support specifically talated to women entergenerus in the green invovations sector can hip bridge the funding gap and create a more equicible entergenerus/a lancet.cope.		
Funding opportunities for women entrepreneurs In the green sector can be enhanced through strategies such as	Funders, Capital Providers, Development Partners, Investors	Seed to Growth/ Mature
Increased pre-seed financing to support the formation and validation stages of women led- startups/ventures	Grant providers, Angel investors	Pre-seed
Creation of more innovative financing mechanisms better suited to the context and cultures of women in the sector	Banks, MFIs, Development Finance Providers- Blended finance through/ grants and loans	Growth/Mature
Creation of sector and women specific funding for the business growth stoges	Government through green bonds, Venture capitalists, Angel investors, Accelerators	Growth/Mature
Provisions of incentives for private sector involvement in the funding of the intersection of gender and climate	Government -public funds/empowermen t funds	Pre-accleration/ Growth/Mature



Recommendations

Target Helip actor(s) lusiness stage

Capacity Development, Education and Training

Addressing educational barriers requires a multi-faceted approach involving various[1] stateholders, including governments, educational institutions, academia, business incubators and accelerators, Enterprise Support Organizations (ESOs) and private sector actors.

Promoting Gender-Inclusive Education is critical. Governments and educational institutions should work towards eliminating gender biases in education systems and ensure equal access to quality education for gifts and women. Encouraging gifts' participation in STBM fields and providing scholariships or financial assistance can help bridge the educational gap.	Tech Hubs, Academia, Research agencies, ESOs, Civil Society, Media	Ideation to Growth
Efforts should be made to disseminate information on green innovations, funding opportunities, and training programs through diverse channels, including online platforms, community conters, and women-focused organizations. This can be achieved through partnerships between government agencies, ESOs, and private sector entities.	Tech Hubs, Academia, Research agencies, ESOs, Civil Society, Media	Ideation to Growth
Investing in digital literacy programs targeted at women entrepreneurs can enhance their access to information and communication technologies.	Tech Hubs, Academia, Research agencies, Innovation Centers	Ideation to growth
Providing training on using online resources, social media platforms, and digital marketing can help women overcome the digital divide and gain better access to relevant information and training.	Tech Hubs, Media, Digital training providers	Ideation
Establishing Mentorship and Networking Programs that connect experienced women entrepreneurs with aspiring ones can provide guidance, support, and networking opportunities	Tech Hubs, Universities, Enterprise Support Organisations	Ideation to Growth
It is also important for the designers of capacity building programs such as accelerators and incubators take into consideration the unique cultural contexts facing women entrepreneurs in Africe such as the fact that women are still considered the primary complivers of families	Tech Hubs, Universities, Enterprise Support Organisations	Ideation to Growth

Recommendations	Target Helix actor(s)	Business stage
Access to Markets		
Creating Gender-Includes Market Access Programs: Governments and organizations should develop programs that specifically target focilitate their access to market. These programs can be included and and the programs can be included and the programs of the products and services to increase their visibility and participation in the sector.	Market Builders, Trade Associations, Chambers of Commerce, Green Industry agencies	Validation to Growth
Creating networks and mentorship programs that connect women entrepreneurs with appreinced industry professions and potential business partners can help provide guidance, support and access to new market apportunities. These programs should focus on fostering colloboration, inoveledge sharing, and relationship building.	Tech Hubs, Universities, Enterprise Support Organisations, Mentorship Networks	Ideation, Validation, Growth
Promoting Gender Diversity and Inclusion: Encouraging gender diversity and Inclusion in industry associations, trade fairs, conferences, and other business events can provide women entrepreneurs with networking opportunities and enhance their visibility.	Women Entrepreneurship Resource Centers, Accelerators, Incubators, ESO's,	Validation to Growth
Ensuring equal representation in decision- making spaces can help address systemic barriers and create a more supportive ecosystem for women in the green innovation sector.	Government, Incubators, Accelerators, Civil Society, Academia	ideation to Growth
Stranghnehing Access to Information and Researces Converments and organizations should invest in providing women entrepreneurs business development programs, and resources this can be done through copport-building establishment of ontine platforms or directories establishment of ontine platforms or directories and copportunities, funding options, and support services.	Market Enablers, Information Resource Centers, Government, Academia, Tech Hubs, Accelerators, Media	Ideation to Growth



Recommendations

Target Helix actor(s)

Business stage

Cultural and Societal Barriers

Encouraging cultural shifts that challenge gender stereotypes, promoting entrepreneurship education and training for women, estabilishing mentership programs, and celebrating the achievements of successful women entrepreneurs can help dismentie these cultural barriers and create a more enabling environment for women in the green innovations sector.

There is a need for increased visibility and recognition of women's achievements in the sector through media coverage), awards, and showcases. This can inspire more women to pursue green entrepreneurship and create role models for future generations.	Intersections, Civil Society, Media	Ideation to Growth
Additionally, policy interventions that promote gender equality and address discriminatory practices can also play a significant role in overcoming these cuttural barriers. It is eruelat to foster a supportive and empowering ecosystem for women entrepreneurs.	Civil Society, Academia, Government	Ideation to growth
Providing mentorship programs, leadership development initiatives, and networking opportunities can help women avercome self- limiting beliefs, build confidence, and strengthen their entrepreneurial mindset.	Tech Hubs, Universities, Enterprise Support Organisations, Innovation Centers	Ideation to Growth
Encouraging risk-taking, celebrating achievements, and promoting a growth- oriented mindset can also play a significant role in empowering women entrepreneurs in the green innovations sector.	Tech Hubs, Universities, Enterprise Support Organisations, Media	Growth
Relating encounters about impactor syndrome and providing support system to exometal it con- help women recognize and overcome this shaping perceptions and can contribute to a cuture shift that supports women entrepreneurs in the green sector. Highlighting success states and echlevements of women in the green sector through media patterms can inspire others and challinge statescapes.	Leadership Centers, Accelerators, Mentorship Networks, Incubators, Digital Agents	Ideation to Growth
Promoting role models and organizing networking events that bring together successful women entrepreneurs and applring green leaders can help faster a supportive ecosystem and encourage more women to enter the sector.	Leadership Centers, Accelerators, Mentorship Networks, Incubators, Digital Agents	Ideation to Growth

Recommendations	Target Helix actor(s)	Business stage		
Policy and Re	Policy and Regulation			
Addressing policy and institutional barriers requir policymakers, institutions, and civil society organiz	Addressing policy and institutional barriers requires a coordinated effort from governments, policymakers, institutions, and civil society organizations. It involves:			
Creating an enabling policy environment that puts women at the forefront	Governments, Policy Makers, Public/private regulators, Standards and Certification Agencies	ideation to Growth		
Promoting gender-responsive programs and initiatives	Government, Tech Hubs, Accelerators, Incubators, Civil Society, Academia	Ideation to growth		
Enhancing institutional support systems in the green innovation sector	Government, Tech Hubs, Accelerators, Incubators, Civil Society, Academia	Ideation to Growth		
Fostering a culture of gender equality and inclusivity in the green innovation sector	Government, Tech Hubs, Accelerators, Incubators, Civil Society, Academia	Growth		
Helping Tech Hubs and NGO actors to become more gender inclusive, for example through guidat self-assesments, tools and resources that enhance gender inclusivity in programming, resourcing, organizational development and interactions with the ecosystem (see for example the Gender Resource Library of the <u>Hub</u> <u>Collective</u>)	Government, Academia, Policy Maikers, Enterprise Support Organizations, Resource Centers, Tech Hubs	Ideation to Grawth		
Academic institutions could be more deliberate ebout linking to the green eactors in even more meaningful ways. For example, in addition to seeing innovative ideas and rereating entrepreneurs, they could also produce research, development, technology, and training staff of startups both in terms of interns but also full time staff.	Leadership Centers, Accelerators, Mentorship Networks, Incubators, Digital Agents	Ideation to Grawth		

-

)

Further adaption on the recommendations can be found in the following section of the incipite in conclusion, by Primaring these second models and antibiation, we are created to conclusion the Primaring these second models and antibiation of the second second term ecception in its than imperiative that databackies across Allerot second terms and and the second graves incident and the second second second second second second graves incident second second



Abor, J., & Quartey, P. (2010). Issues in SME Development in Ghana and South Africa. International Research Journal of Finance and Economics, 39, 218-228.

AfDB. (2021). Affirmative Finance Action for Women in Africa (AFAWA). Retrieved from https://www.afdb.org/en/topics-and-sectors/initiatives-partnerships/affirmative-financeaction-women-africa-atowa

AfD8. (2022). Africa Climate Change Fund Jaunches Women and Youth Entrepreneurship Project. Retrieved from https://www.afdb.org/an/news-and-events/africa-climate-changetund-launches-women-and-vouth-entrepreneurship-project-57058

AfDB. (2022). African Development Bank Group approves LEAF program. Retrieved from https://www.afdb.org/en/news-and-events/press-releases/african-development-bankgroup-approves-leaf-program-promote-investment-decentralized-renevable-energy-49329

AfD8. (2019). Women's Entrepreneurship Finance Initiative (We-Fi) – Africa Resource Guide. Retrieved from https://www.afdborg/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Generic-Documents/We-Fi_Resource_Guide___FINALpdf

Agarwal, B. (2010). Gender and Green Governance: The Political Economy of Women's Presence Within and Beyond Community Forestry. Oxford Development Studies, 38(1), 25-40.

Alam, Q., Mamun, S., & Hosen, M. (2020). Barriers to Women Entrepreneurship: A Study on Women Entrepreneurs in Bangladesh. Journal of Asian Finance, Economics, and Business, 7(10), 231-238.

AlitheoIDF. (2023). Growing businesses. Building African communities. Driving gender diversity. Retrieved from https://www.alithelaidf.com/

ANDE. (2023). Entrepreneur ecosystem snapshot. Retrieved from https://andeglabal.cvg/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/ANDE_Ecosystem-Snapshot_Green-Entrepreneurship-in-Kenya.pdf

AVPA. (2023). Gender Platform. Retrieved from https://avpa.africa/genderplatform/gender-lens-investment/

BA Isage. (2022). Launch of climate change and entrepreneurship center. Retrieved from https://bolsago.ac.bw/events/launch-of-climate-change-and-entrepreneurship-centre/

Chaminade, C., & Peneder, M. (2017). From Micro to Mesa: Developing Entrepreneurial Ecosystems in STEM Fields. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 123, 275–285.

DTIC. (2021). Report on empowerment of women in the green industry. Retrieved from http://www.thedfic.gov.zo/deputy-minister-gino-weicomes-report-on-empowerment-ofwomen-in-the-green-industry/

Enrich in Africa. (2022). Green Economy Startup Project. Retrieved from https://enrich-inafrica-project.eu/news-1/call-for-applications-green-economy-project


Entrepreneur India. (2018). Market Access Programs: Adding Dimensions to Accelerators. Retrieved from <u>https://www.entrepreneur.com/ian-in/growth-strategles/heres-how-</u> accelerators-iend-sradibility-and-legilmacy/318572

Enygme. (2023). Business funding for women. Retrieved from https://www.envgmaventures.com/

ESI Africa. (2022). Catalysing woman entrepreneurs in sub-Saharan Africa for Eergy for all. Retrieved from https://www.asi-africa.com/industy-sectors/finance-and-joilcy/catalysingwoman-entrepreneurs-in-sub-saharan-africa-for-energy-for-all.

Future Females. (2022). Future females green economy programs. Retrieved from https://www.lips.org.col/mages/introducing_Future_Females_green_economy_programs_La uren_Dailas.pdf. 72

Frontiers. (2022). Climate change and gender in Africa. Retrieved from https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fclim.2022.895950/full

GENS. (2021). Gender for Energy Security. Retrieved from https://gens.sun.ac.za/

GIBS. (2022). Business Schools for Climate Leadership initiative launched. Retrieved from
https://www.gibs.co.za/news-events/news/pages/business-schools-for-climate-leadership-initiative-launched.aspx
https://www.gibs.co.za/news-events/news/pages/business-schools-for-climate-leadership-initiative-launched.aspx

GWP. (2021). Implementation of climate change activities in Zambia. Retrieved from https://www.gwp.org/globalassets/documents/gwpsa/zambia-nap-policy-brief_digital.pdf

Godwyll, F. (2019). Barriers to Women Entrepreneurship in Green Technologies in Africa: Insights from a Comparative Study of Ghana, Kenya, and South Africa. Sustainability, 11(6), 1546.

ILO (International Labour Organization). (2019). Gender Dimensions of the Guiding Principles an Business and Human Rights. Retrieved from https://www.liaord/global/publications/books/WCMS_716111/lang--en/index.htm

Import Amplifler. (2015). Green Ploneer Accelerator Programme launches in Kenya and South Africa. Retrieved from https://www.importamplifler.co.ad/news/green-ploneeraccelerator-programme-bunches-in-kenya-and-south-africa

Innovation for Policy Foundation. (2023). Benchmarking small business acts and startup acts. Retrieved from https://benchmark.ecosystem.build/

ISS. (2023) African women bear the brunt of climate change. Retrieved from https://issafrica.org/pscreport/psc-insights/african-women-bear-the-brunt-of-climatechange.

Itua, L (2019). The Gendered Barriers to Entrepreneurship and Access to Green Finance for Women in Nigeria. Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development, 10(9), 109-120.

Impact Amplifier. (2015). Green Pioneer Accelerator Programme launches in Kenya and South Africa. Retrieved from <u>https://www.impactamplifier.cs.zd/news/green-gioneer-</u> accelerator-programme-kunches-in-kenya-and-south-africa



Innovation for Policy Foundation. (2023). Benchmarking small business acts and startup acts. Retrieved from https://benchmark.ecosystem.build/

ISS. (2023). African women bear the brunt of climate change. Retrieved from https://issufrica.org/pscreport/psc-insights/african-women-bear-the-brunt-of-climatechange

Itua, L (2019). The Gendered Barriers to Entrepreneurship and Access to Green Finance for Women in Nigeria. Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development, 10(9), 109–120.

Kabeer, N. (2012). Women's Economic Empowerment and inclusive Growth: Labour Markets and Enterprise Development. London: Overseas Development institute.

Kiva. (2021). Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment: Women in Green Sector. Retrieved from https://www.kiva.org/lend/gender/women-in-green-sector

OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development). (2018). Women's Entreprensurship in Africa: Encouraging Women's Entrepreneurship in Africa: Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/countries/cote-divoire/womens-entrepreneurship-in-africaencouraging-womens-entrepreneurship-in-officia-9788242498174-en.htm

Rallying Cry. (2022). Accelerate transformation: Invest in African Women leading climate change. Retrieved from https://therallyingcry.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/The-Rallying-Cry-Thought-Leadership-Report-Nov-2022.pdf

Shell Foundation. (2023). Getting innovative in agri-energy ecosystem. Retrieved from https://shellfoundation.org/gog/uploads/2023/01/ATG-final-report-190123.pdf

Shell Foundation. (2019). Shell Foundation and FMO collaborate to achieve clean energy access in sub-Saharan African. Retrieved from https://shellfoundation.org/news/shellfoundation-and-fmo-collaborate-to-help-achieve-clean-energy-access-in-sub-saharanafrica/

Strathmore University. (2021). Gender Equality and Social Inclusion in Energy Sector. Retrieved from https://strathmore.edu/news/gender-equality-and-social-inclusion-gesi-in-the-energy-sector/

___UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme). (2020). The Business Case for Gender Equality in the Green Economy. Retrieved from https://www.unep.org/resources/report/business-case-gender-equality-green-economy

___UNEP. (2020). Empowering Women in Sustainable Energy. Retrieved from https://www.unep.org/resources/report/empowering-women-sustainable-energy.

Ventureburn. (2021). Africa Trust Group receives R4.2-million Shell Foundation grant. Retrieved from <u>https://ventureburn.com/2021/07/africa-trust-group-receives-r4-2-million-stahl-foundation-arant/</u>

Ventureburn. (2023). Grindstone X announces top 10 women entrepreneurs. Retrieved from https://ventureburn.com/2023/01/grindstone-x-announces-top-10-women-entrepreneurs/



Village Capital. (2022). Adaptation SME Acceleration Project. Retrieved from https://vilcap.com/programs/asap-africa-asia